

International Cooperation in Tax Matters

Report of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters on the work of its eleventh meeting

International Cooperation in Tax Matters

Report of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters on the work of its eleventh meeting

DESA

The Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat is a vital interface between global policies in the economic, social and environmental spheres and national action. The Department works in three main interlinked areas: (i) it compiles, generates and analyses a wide range of economic, social and environmental data and information on which States Members of the United Nations draw to review common problems and to take stock of policy options; (ii) it facilitates the negotiations of Member States in many intergovernmental bodies on joint courses of action to address ongoing or emerging global challenges; and (iii) it advises interested Governments on the ways and means of translating policy frameworks developed in United Nations conferences and summits into programmes at the country level and, through technical assistance, helps build national capacities.

Note

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures.

The term "country" as used in the text of the present report also refers, as appropriate, to territories or areas.

The views expressed in signed papers are those of the individual authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the organization with which they are associated or those of the United Nations.

ST/ESA/290
United Nations Publication
Sales No. E.04.XVI.1
ISBN 92-1-159101-5
Copyright[©]United Nations, 2004
All rights reserved

Report of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters on the work of its eleventh meeting

Contents

		Paragraphs	Page
	Introduction	1–22	1
	A. Terms of reference	1	1
	B. Opening of the meeting	2–14	1
	C. Attendance.	15–18	4
	D. Election of officers	19	5
	E. Adoption of the agenda	20	5
	F. Documentation	21	5
	G. Work programme.	22	5
Chapter			
I.	Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance		
	procedure	23–41	6
II.	Treaty shopping and treaty abuses	42–51	Ģ
III.	Interaction of tax, trade and investment	52-64	12
IV.	Financial taxation and equity market development		15
V.	Transfer pricing	87–105	19
	A. Simplified safe harbour procedures	87–96	19
	B. Intermediation and arbitration: European Union experience	97–105	21
VI.	Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation	106-125	23
VII.	Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments	126–145	28
VIII.	Electronic commerce and developing countries	146-162	31
IX.	Revision and update of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries and revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries	163–187	34
X.	Conclusion	188–189	38
Annexes			
I.	List of participants		40
II.	Agenda and organization of work		63

III.	List of documents	68
IV.	Work programme	71
V.	Press release: Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters concludes eleventh meeting	75

Introduction

A. Terms of reference

- 1. The Economic and Social Council, in its resolutions 1980/13 of 28 April 1980 and 1982/45 of 27 July 1982, set out the terms of reference of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters, as follows:
 - 1. Formulation of guidelines for international cooperation to combat tax evasion and avoidance.
 - Continuing the examination of the United Nations Model Double
 Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries and
 consideration of the experience of countries in bilateral application of the
 Model Convention.
 - 3. Study of possibilities of enhancing the efficiency of tax administrations and formulation of appropriate policy and methodology suggestions.
 - 4. Study of possibilities of reducing potential conflicts among the tax laws of various countries and formulation of appropriate policy and methodology suggestions.

B. Opening of the meeting

- The proceedings were opened by Mr. Abdel Hamid Bouab, Secretary of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters, who welcomed the members of the Group of Experts, observers and other interested parties to its eleventh meeting. Mr. Bouab, in his welcoming remarks, reviewed the work and accomplishments of the Group of Experts, noting particularly the publication of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries and the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries. He observed that the Group of Experts had conducted training tax workshops in Amsterdam, Beijing, and Brasília. He also noted that the Group of Experts had expanded over the years and now had 25 members, one third of whom were from capital exporting countries and two thirds from developing countries and countries with transitional economies. Mr. Bouab then presented for approval the agenda items and introduced the new members of the Group of Experts, namely, Mr. Kenneth Allen (Australia), Ms. Luciana Mesquita Sabino de Freitas Cussi (Brazil), Mr. Liao Tizhong (China), Mr. Mahmoud Mohammed Ali (Egypt), Mr. Pascal Saint-Amans (France), Mr. John Evans Atta Mills (Ghana), Mr. Panna Lal Singh (India), Mr. Keith Engel (South Africa) and Mr. Andrew Dawson (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland).
- 3. Mr. Bouab also briefed on the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development, which had encouraged, inter alia, strengthened international tax cooperation through enhanced dialogue among national tax authorities and greater coordination of the work of the concerned multilateral bodies and relevant regional organizations, giving special attention to the needs of developing countries and countries with economies in transition.

- 4. In his opening remarks, Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa, Chairman of the Group of Experts, observed that model tax conventions reflected concepts developed many years ago. He noted the difficulty of working with this model under current economic conditions and stressed the need to keep tax regimes updated. The goal in the forum provided by the meeting of the Group of Experts, he suggested, was to foster fruitful discussions that would lead to improvements in the United Nations model tax conventions and related materials. On the other hand, he emphasized that the meeting was highly important given the need to consider, taking into account the United Nations Millennium Declaration and the Monterrey Consensus, the possibility of suggesting changes in the way the Group of Experts carried out its work.
- 5. Referring to agenda items 3-12, Mr. Bouab expressed the hope that the members of the Group of Experts would find the subjects of topical interest and would exchange views on the developments that had been taking place since the tenth meeting of the Group of Experts.
- 6. Agenda item 3 (Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure). The fact that jurisdiction to deal with both the substantive and procedural aspects of tax collection may involve different arrangements regarding the status of private parties vis-à-vis the faculties, powers, duties and privileges of the tax administration in each State, suggests the need for individual responses tailored to the structure and administration of the particular State in question. The eleventh meeting should address the issue of mutual assistance in tax collection, which is not dealt with in article 26 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention concerning exchange of information. The subject of a new international instrument for promoting international assistance in tax collection in the form of a multilateral convention on mutual administrative assistance in tax matters should be explored during the eleventh meeting.
- Agenda item 4 (Treaty shopping and treaty abuses). Treaty shopping exists when a resident person of a particular State takes steps or actions to establish a link for himself or his activities to another State with the intention of obtaining entitlement to benefits or relief under the law and treaties to which the other country is party. Tax authorities may challenge treaty shopping situations if an entity or transaction is deemed to lack sufficient economic substance. The eleventh meeting should explore guidelines that might include restrictions on the relief provided by a contracting State so that it should be given only (a) to persons subject to tax in the other country or (b) to persons subject to tax in the other country at a minimum statutory or effective rate or (c) to the beneficial owners of the income concerned or (d) (in appropriate cases where the beneficiary is, in the first instance, a corporation) to companies the shares in which are quoted on a recognized stock exchange or companies the major shareholding in which is not in the hands of persons resident in another country. Arrangements for the exchange of information should, where appropriate, enable information to be provided that may be needed to operate such provisions.
- 8. Agenda item 5 (Interaction of tax, trade and investment). Recent developments in the World Trade Organization, including the adoption of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights and the Subsidies Code negotiated in the Uruguay Round of multilateral trade negotiations, and the Foreign Sales

Corporation/Extraterritorial Income Exclusion litigation, have highlighted the interaction among tax, trade and investment rules. The World Trade Organization is no longer solely concerned with tariff reduction at the border, but is engaged with issues related to foreign direct investment (as reflected, for example, in the General Agreement on Trade in Services) and to direct taxation (as reflected, for example, in the Subsidies Code as applied to direct tax export subsidies and the border adjustability rules). The meeting will discuss the theoretical relationship among tax, trade and investment rules, including the bilateral tax and investment treaties and the multilateral framework for addressing these issues.

- 9. Agenda item 6 (Financial taxation and equity market development). The Monterrey Consensus addressed the need to sustain stable private financial flows to developing countries and economies in transition by encouraging the orderly development of capital markets through debt and equity markets that encouraged and channelled savings and fostered productive investments. As we have also observed in the Asian crisis in 1997, the availability of long-term financing is essential for sustainable development in developing countries and countries with transitional economies. Financial taxation (taxation on dividends, interest incomes and capital gains), which constitutes one of the most important aspects of this, will affect both equity and fixed income markets development together with other issues such as regulatory and legal frameworks, transparency and disclosure of corporate financial statements, efficient and reliable settlement systems, and a reliable banking system.
- 10. Agenda item 7 (Transfer pricing). During the tenth meeting, the Group of Experts recognized that the developing countries and the economies in transition should improve their ability to develop and implement transfer pricing rules. The Focus Group appointed in regard to this had made recommendations specifically on policy advice, technical assistance and international cooperation on transfer pricing issues and on avoiding and resolving transfer pricing disputes. The eleventh meeting should examine the feasibility of arbitration as a means of resolving international tax disputes. Most conventions provide for a mutual procedure as a means of resolving disputes concerning the application of the convention to taxpayers. This entails discussions between the competent authorities of the signatory States. The European model and a comparative analysis involving the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) model should be of particular relevance. The recommendation should be based on the Monterrey Consensus.
- 11. Agenda item 8 (Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments). The tax treatment of cross-border interest income continues to be a major issue in international taxation and in international finance. Recent developments will result in more extensive taxation of cross-border interest income and, consequently, less capital flight and tax evasion. With the growing attention to capital flight, the European Union (EU) Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income and the OECD proposals will presumably lead to greater scrutiny by third countries of the even-handedness of the policies of EU and OECD. Both the EU savings directive and the OECD proposals in effect do not confront the issue of capital flight from third countries into EU and OECD countries. Given that EU and OECD have emphasized the importance of the taxation of capital flight, the reaction of third countries needs to be analysed.

- 12. Agenda item 9 (Electronic commerce and developing countries). During the discussion in the tenth meeting, it was suggested that the United Nations might undertake research and new initiatives for determining the principles for taxation of electronic commerce and, specifically, concepts of permanent establishment, which may be useful to developing countries and economies in transition. The eleventh meeting should develop guidelines for legislation promoting direct and indirect tax requirements based on the strengthening of the tax base so as to prevent preferential treatment of any specific use of electronic commerce, as well as on principles of transparency, certainty, effectiveness, efficiency and non-discrimination.
- 13. Agenda item 10 (Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation). During the preparatory phase of the International Conference on Financing for Development, the High-level Panel on Financing for Development headed by Mr. Ernesto Zedillo, former President of Mexico, had formulated recommendations aimed at the establishment of an institutional framework for an international organization or forum for international cooperation in tax matters (see document A/55/1000 of 26 June 2001). The Zedillo Panel specifically endorsed the creation of an international tax organization to cover such issues related to taxation as developing procedures for arbitration, sharing information on tax evasion, compiling statistics and engaging in surveillance. In the same context, in his report to the General Assembly at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the Conference (document A/58/216 of 5 August 2003), the Secretary-General recommended that the Group of Experts be upgraded to an intergovernmental commission or committee reporting directly to the Economic and Social Council (para. 167).
- 14. Agenda items 11 and 12 (Revision and update of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries; revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries). During its ninth and tenth meetings, the Group of Experts had agreed to proceed with periodic revisions and updates of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention every year. Furthermore, at its tenth meeting, the Group of Experts appointed two Focus Groups to make recommendations on transfer pricing and taxation of electronic commerce. The Group of Experts had recognized the need for developing countries and countries with transitional economies to improve their ability to develop, implement and administer transfer pricing and taxation on electronic commerce.

C. Attendance

15. The following members of the Group of Experts attended the eleventh meeting: Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa (Argentina), Mr. Kenneth Allen (Australia), Ms. Luciana Mesquita Sabino de Freitas Cussi (Brazil), Mr. Liao Tizhong (China), Mr. Abdoulaye Camara (Côte d'Ivoire), Mr. Mahmoud Mohammed Ali (Egypt), Mr. Pascal Saint-Amans (France), Mr. Wolfgang K. A. Lasars (Germany), Mr. John Evans Atta Mills (Ghana), Mr. Panna Lal Singh (India), Mr. Surjotamtomo Soedirdjo (Indonesia), Mr. Mayer Gabay (Israel), Mr. Errol Hudson (Jamaica), Mr. Armando Lara Yaffar (Mexico), Mr. Noureddine Bensouda (Morocco), Mr. Joseph A. Arogundade (Nigeria), Mr. Riaz Ahmad Malik (Pakistan), Mr. Babou Ngom (Senegal), Mr. Keith Engel (South Africa), Mr. José Antonio Bustos (Spain), Mr. Daniel Luthi (Switzerland), Mr. Andrew J. Dawson (United Kingdom of Great

Britain and Northern Ireland) and Ms. Patricia A. Brown (United States of America). For details, see annex I, section A.

- 16. The meeting was also attended by observers for the following States Members of the United Nations: Azerbaijan, Bahamas, Barbados, Belgium, Cameroon, Chile, Congo, Cuba, Czech Republic, Egypt, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Ireland, Israel, Italy, Kenya, Malaysia, Morocco, Nicaragua, Nigeria, Norway, Romania, Russian Federation, Rwanda, Singapore, Slovakia, South Africa, Spain, Thailand, Tunisia, Uganda, Ukraine, Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of), Viet Nam. The observer for the Cayman Islands also attended. For details, see annex I, section B.
- 17. The meeting was further attended by observers for the following international bodies and other institutions: Commonwealth Secretariat, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), Fairleigh Dickinson University, International Association of University Presidents (IAUP)-California State University/Sacramento, Catholic University of Louvain, London Metropolitan University, World Association of Former United Nations Interns and Fellows (WAFUNIF), Tax Justice Network, Associação Comercial de São Paulo, Sheltons International Tax Counsel, Shacham Tax Law Office, Adachi, Henderson, Miyatake and Fujita, International Chamber of Commerce-Paris, KPMG International. For details, see annex I, section C.
- 18. The Secretariat, which provided support to the Group of Experts, was also assisted by advisers and resource persons from different areas of international taxation. See annex I, section D.

D. Election of officers

19. The Group of Experts elected Antonio Hugo Figueroa (Argentina) as Chairman and Mayer Gabay (Israel) as Rapporteur. Abdel Hamid Bouab served as Secretary and Masakatsu Ohyama as Assistant Secretary.

E. Adoption of the agenda

20. The Group of Experts adopted the annotated agenda as contained in annex II.

F. Documentation

21. To facilitate its work, the Group of Experts had before it the documents listed in annex III.

G. Work programme

22. The proceedings of the eleventh meeting of the Group of Experts were organized in the work programme contained in annex IV. A United Nations press release on the proceedings of the meeting is contained in annex V.

I. Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure

- 23. A paper entitled "Mutual assistance in collection of tax debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.2) was presented to the Group of Experts. The presenter reviewed the existing United Nations, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and European Union (EU) agreements and mechanisms for mutual assistance in tax matters. Another paper entitled "L'assistance internationale au recouvrement des créances fiscales" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.2) was also presented.
- 24. The central question raised was whether a provision similar to article 27 of the OECD Model Tax Convention on Income and on Capital should be adopted by the Group. Additionally proposed was an article dealing with the service of documents. Another issue presented was whether developed countries should offer incentives to developing countries in order to help defray the costs to developing countries of entering into mutual assistance agreements.
- 25. Traditionally, mutual assistance in tax matters has been provided for in the exchange-of-information article in income tax treaties. These provisions exist within both the United Nations and the OECD model tax treaties. Ascertaining the state of the art in mutual assistance in tax matters requires a consideration of (a) article 26 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries¹ on methods of exchange of information and/or assistance; (b) articles 26 and 27 of the OECD Model Tax Convention; (c) the Council of Europe/OECD Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters; (d) the OECD Agreement on Exchange of Information on Tax Matters; (e) the EU Savings Tax Directive clause on exchange of information; (f) the EU Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income; (g) the EU Directive on Mutual Assistance for the Recovery of Claims; (h) the OECD Model Convention for Mutual Administrative Assistance in the Recovery of Tax Claims; and (i) the findings of the OECD report entitled *Improving Access to Bank Information for Tax Purposes* (Paris, 2000).
- 26. In his comments, the discussant remarked that the recent trend internationally was to provide cooperation on collection between taxing authorities. He observed that Morocco had 12 treaties which contained an assistance-in-tax-collection provision, and such a provision could be found in other treaties of the region.
- 27. A developing-country member pointed out that the fundamental issue in any tax system was the collection of taxes. It was natural, therefore, to consider cooperation on collection. Historically, in 1928, the League of Nations Fiscal Committee had worked on the issue of tax collection. The initial direction, however, was not followed in later models.
- 28. A question arises whether mutual assistance should be limited only to taxes covered by the convention or should extend to all taxes of the contracting States, including local taxes and social security. One member suggested that requests for collection assistance should be deferred until all internal remedies had been exhausted. In any event, requests for collection must be accompanied by the proper paperwork. It was suggested that precautionary measures, such as seizures, must not interfere with normal business conduct. One observer noted that it would be

¹ United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.XVI.2.

desirable to allow assistance in collection on a voluntary basis, whose administration costs were small, before a full exhaustion of remedies whose costs would be large.

- 29. A developing-country member asserted that there must be similar mutual assistance and exchange-of-information provisions between developed and developing countries. However, many developing countries found it difficult to meet the paperwork requirements for making requests and did not have the capacity to respond properly to requests for assistance from a treaty partner. A suggestion was made that perhaps developing countries could receive a subsidy to allow them to comply with requests for assistance. One question was whether such a clause could be enforced in a reasonable way. It was also possible that the United Nations could provide technical assistance to developing countries on tax collection.
- 30. A number of members from developing and developed countries were of the view that the collection of taxes should not be limited solely to taxes covered by a tax convention. It was noted that, practically, mutual assistance might be limited to taxes covered by tax conventions owing to the lack of capacity of tax administrators to administer State and local taxes. Clauses could be placed in tax conventions that limited mutual assistance owing to lack of capacity. The suggestion was made that the language of a model convention might allow for flexibility, depending on the circumstances of the contracting States.
- 31. With regard to model treaties, variation existed concerning mandatory versus voluntary mutual assistance provisions. Moreover, the OECD model provided a number of exemptions regarding mutual assistance including: transfers of trade secrets, precluding mutual assistance where another convention would prohibit such assistance, and prohibiting mutual assistance if the result would be to discriminate against the residents of the two contracting States.
- 32. A member from a developed country pointed out that collection assistance entailed a much bigger commitment than did information exchange. Many developing countries appeared reluctant to agree to information exchange provisions that overrode bank secrecy. One member noted that the United States of America now insisted on an exchange-of-information provision that overrode bank secrecy in all of its new tax conventions.
- 33. A question was raised on the impact of capacity on exchange-of-information agreements. It was pointed out that the capacity of developing countries to initiate or react to exchange-of-information requests was often quite limited. It was suggested that capacity-building was an important task that needed to be given great attention. One observer noted that OECD and various regional associations of tax administrators could be helpful in capacity-building. Others suggested that the regional tax organizations provided a useful clearing house for ideas but were not engaged in effective administrative training. It was noted that the United Nations was prepared to work closely with any groups offering to assist developing countries in capacity-building.
- 34. While discussing the capacity-related problems faced by developing countries, it was noted that some countries might be reluctant to sign exchange-of-information agreements because they feared that this would cause deposits in their banks to vanish. According to several commentators, exchange-of-information agreements generally had not worked well for developing countries. Mutual assistance should

- begin with support so that developing countries could improve their tax administration. In developing countries, internal tax evasion was such a large problem that exchange-of-information and tax collection agreements might not work.
- 35. A member from a developed country suggested that international organizations needed to mobilize resources to promote the development of efficient tax administration in developing countries. Governments in developing countries should be made aware of the importance of international taxation and build their capacity in that regard. The United Nations was dedicated to consulting and interacting with every organization that was involved in enhancing the capacity of tax administrators.
- 36. A member from a developing country asserted that developing countries might have serious constitutional problems in collecting foreign tax debts. Therefore, the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention must clearly establish what sorts of debts could be collected. In many cases, domestic laws must be changed to permit the collection of foreign tax debts.
- 37. A member from a developing country stated that (a) reciprocity was very important in exchange-of-information agreements; (b) relative administrative capacity was highly important to the success of such agreements and (c) the effects of differing legal systems (common law versus civil law) must be given careful attention.
- 38. A member from a developing country stated that there was a need for reciprocity in exchange-of-information agreements. In addition, the existence of a collection agreement could act as a deterrent to tax evasion. Assistance in collection was secondary, one observer stated, to information exchange, and especially to the elimination of banking secrecy.
- 39. An observer from a developed country noted that even if the United Nations adopted a provision similar to article 27 of the OECD Model Tax Convention, various problems would remain. One problem was that most countries would not allow their tax department to collect a tax debt without providing due process to the taxpayer. Thus, automatic collection might be difficult. In response, it was suggested that all matters relating to defences with respect to a tax claim should be settled before the foreign country was asked to collect a debt. In that event, the only due process requirement might be that the taxpayer should have the opportunity to contest the finality of the judgement in the other State. It was generally agreed that the courts of a treaty partner should not be looking into the validity of the underlying tax claim, since they had no expertise on that matter.
- 40. A number of speakers expressed concern about the requirements of due process under the constitution of their country. Some members pointed out that various limitations in a country's constitution could prevent the implementation of a proposed article 27. Other members suggested that constitutional issues generally were covered during the treaty negotiations. It was suggested that this matter might require further study.
- 41. The Secretariat established a focus group to prepare a recommendation to the Group of Experts. The focus group prepared some draft language for the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention and the Commentaries on the articles thereof. It was decided that the members of the Group of Experts would exchange views on the draft, with the expectation that the matter would be taken up at its next meeting.

II. Treaty shopping and treaty abuses

- 42. A paper entitled "Abuse of tax treaties and treaty shopping" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.3) was presented. The Group of Experts stressed the importance of the issue, taking into account the many international developments that had occurred since the topic was addressed during its fourth meeting in 1987. In particular, the number of treaties in force had increased dramatically, with the result that treaty networks had to some extent superseded the original bilateral agreement. In addition, OECD had done important work in this area, as reflected in the 2003 update to its commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention.
- 43. Three main questions were addressed. First, what was considered a treaty abuse? In that connection, it was necessary to decide who was to determine the existence of an abuse. Second, how were the standards for dealing with treaty abuse being established? In that connection, it was noted that those standards might be included in the treaty itself. Third, was it acceptable to deal with treaty abuse with domestic anti-abuse mechanisms? In that connection, it was suggested that it was necessary to take account of the legal nature of treaties and the obligations derived from the public international law of treaties, mainly *pacta sunt servanda* (article 26 of the 1969 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties²) and the impossibility of invoking domestic law as a justification for unilateral treaty override of the obligations of the treaty (article 27 of the Vienna Convention). It was also noted that treaties were to be so interpreted as to advance the intent of the signatories.
- 44. As regards what should be considered treaty abuse, it was noted that it was not possible to come up with a general and common understanding of a definition of a treaty abuse. Nevertheless, there was a broad recognition that treaty abuses existed and must be dealt with properly. The impossibility of reaching an agreement on a common definition of a treaty abuse was partly due to the mechanisms for dealing with tax treaty abuse. Persons covered by a tax treaty were its ultimate beneficiaries, despite the fact that a treaty was signed by contracting States and was intended to advance the interests of the contracting States.
- 45. Certain common aspects of treaty abuses were stressed, notwithstanding the different legal traditions for dealing with abuses. The existence of an abuse implied an indirect violation of the law, the abuse being contrary to its goal and objectives. Such a violation could be determined only after taking into account the specific circumstances of the case. It was asserted that a treaty abuse generally was determined by national authorities under domestic law patterns, according to the respective legal tradition of each country. For this reason, the concept was likely to vary from State to State. It was also explained that the question of treaty abuse was mainly a question of treaty interpretation mainly of who were the bona fide beneficiaries of the treaty. It was noted that the provision of a general and common understanding of the meaning of the term in the Commentaries on the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention would be very useful.
- 46. Some discussion followed about the identity of the person committing the abuse. Normally, the term "treaty abuse" was used to refer to situations in which the taxpayer was seeking to circumvent the law. However, consideration should be taken of cases in which one of the contracting States had taken advantage of the

² United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1155, No. 18232.

good faith of the other contracting State to the treaty by making a future amendment to the law or by administrative practices that led to significant losses of resources of the other contracting State. The two situations — abuse by the taxpayer and abuse by the contracting State — should be distinguished in framing the rules used to determine the existence of the abuse, in identifying the bodies that would declare the existence of an abuse and in establishing the legal consequences of the finding of an abuse.

- 47. There was a debate on whether or not treaty shopping was compatible with the goals of tax treaties. It was reiterated that treaty abuse and treaty shopping should not be confused. Treaty shopping related to situations where the person secured the benefit of the treaty without being the legitimate beneficiary of it. Treaty abuse, on the contrary, referred to situations where the result of a certain operation was in contradiction with the treaty. Some representatives from developing countries stressed that treaty shopping was not compatible with the goals of the treaty. Other members of the Group of Experts, however, stressed that treaty shopping was a more complex issue. Some participants mentioned that whenever the treaty shopping issue was considered important, it should be specifically mentioned in the treaty, including countervailing measures to combat it. It was insisted, nevertheless, that in certain treaty shopping situations, general measures countervailing abuse could still be used even in the absence of a specific provision in the treaty.
- 48. In order to address treaty abuses, some participants contended that there was no need to establish specific rules in a treaty, and there was general consensus that some domestic anti-abuse measures could be used, as occurred in practice in many cases. Other participants expressed a concern, nevertheless, regarding the dangers and uncertainties that this straightforward solution could produce if the limitations derived from the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties were not taken into account.
- 49. Some members from developing countries mentioned that the real concern was to avoid double non-taxation situations, which were not dealt with explicitly in tax treaties. Some members were of the opinion that double non-taxation situations were inconsistent with the goal of a tax treaty; they argued that such situations should be regarded as constituting cases of treaty abuse. Other members expressed some reservations to that view. One participant remarked that the original goal of the work conducted by the League of Nations had been not only to avoid double taxation but to assure taxation once. As one participant remarked, even if it was agreed that double non-taxation should be avoided, the issue remained as to which of the contracting States should obtain the tax revenues from eliminating the non-taxation.
- 50. One commentator stressed that cases of treaty abuse by the contracting States needed special attention because the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties had not foreseen any consequences for indirect abusive breaches of a treaty by the contracting parties but only for cases of serious violation (article 60 of the Vienna Convention). One participant suggested that there was a real need for new tools in order to deal with treaty shopping, taking into consideration the willingness of some States to promote this. In that respect, countries were advised to look carefully into the practices of some States before entering into a treaty with them. A participant from a developing country indicated that developing countries attempting to expand

their treaty network had a need for technical assistance and advice in respect of the structure used by taxpayers to abuse a treaty.

51. An observer from a non-governmental organization stated that there appeared to be a lack of international political will to combat the effect of tax abuse on developing countries, and to assist the tax authorities of those countries in key areas such as: the implementation of spontaneous automatic information exchange, the implementation of measures to effectively combat tax evasion through offshore vehicles, including trusts and foundations, the implementation of measures to reduce the scope and ability of multinational corporations to launder their profits through tax havens, and the implementation of measures to stop smaller businesses from using reinvoicing processes to profit-launder via tax havens.

III. Interaction of tax, trade and investment

- 52. A paper entitled "The interaction of tax, trade and investment" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.4) was presented to the group. Another paper entitled "Globalization and tax competition: implication for developing countries" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.4) was also presented. The presenter discussed the central concern of the papers, namely, that harmful tax competition among developing countries was a major issue in regard to international tax cooperation. Tax competition and how to address it could be well understood by evaluating the interaction of tax, trade and investment as embodied in the bilateral tax treaty network and the multilateral World Trade Organization.
- 53. The goal of free and fair trade cannot be achieved through tariff agreements only because non-tariff policies such as quotas, preferential treatment and subsidies may generate trade-restricting effects. Of special concern are direct and indirect tax structures that can act as implicit production and export subsidies. Likewise, internal taxes should not discriminate between domestically produced and imported goods, especially when they are used in a particular sector, because such use produces a subsidy effect. Finally, taxation of income flows from foreign direct investment (FDI) in both the source and the resident State can constitute a fiscal barrier to free trade. The resulting double taxation problems are alleviated by bilateral tax treaties. However, tax treaties are designed to maintain an equitable distribution of revenues in the presence of two-way capital flows.
- 54. A multinational enterprise shifts income to affiliates resident in a tax haven in order to take advantage of lower tax haven rates. Tax havens may be classified as "production tax havens", which are countries with a very low tax rate on manufacturing income, and "traditional tax havens", which are countries offering a low tax rate on the income of corporations whose legal domicile is in that country, especially financial centres. Bilateral treaties are of limited use because they are established primarily between developed countries with similar economic structures. Owing to their bilateral nature, treaties cannot deal with the predatory tax protectionism caused by either production or traditional tax havens. What is needed is a multilateral organization designed to deal with the tax competition problem. The United Nations is the obvious venue for setting up such an organization.
- 55. In his comments, the discussant remarked that developing countries were fighting for capital against developed countries. Taxation goes to the very roots of a country. This competition represents a big dilemma for developing counties because capital is limited and the competition may cause them to offer overly generous tax concessions. In many cases, such tax concessions transferred much-needed tax revenues from developing to developed countries. Hence, developing countries may be relying on tax holidays which may not be in their best interests. Moreover, enterprises will always pressure developing countries not to remove tax incentive by threatening to move their operations out of the country. Developing countries are sensitive about export subsidies because their industry must be protected. While trade and tax matters may appear related, the policies underlying them are different. Trade policies have free trade as their objective, while the objective of the tax treaties is the avoidance of double taxation and the use of the tax system to promote economic development. Measures need to be taken regarding double non-taxation, as bilateral treaties are not sufficient in this regard and the World Trade Organization is not capable of dealing with tax matters. There is a need for a

broader tax forum within which to deal with the issue. In this connection, a multinational agency with a broad membership is needed to deal with tax competition.

- 56. The discussant also mentioned that the author's concern over the promotion of free trade clearly ignored the often-repeated argument that free trade was not necessarily fair to all parties. Indeed, the dissatisfaction of developing countries with World Trade Organization rules on free trade stems from their belief that they fail to recognize that the playing field is uneven. There cannot be genuinely free trade when some parties to the agreement negotiate from a position of weakness. The World Trade Organization's position on export subsidies and other measures adopted by developing countries to generate employment, protect their industries and generally to strengthen their economies fails to take into account the other "subtle" but sometimes open subsidies granted by developed countries to stimulate their economies.
- 57. A member from a developing country asserted the need to work on the subject of headquarters tax havens. In that regard, it was useful to look at the EU guidelines on harmful competition. It was also noted that countries were not ready to give up their taxing sovereignty. Yet, developing countries may be wasting their resources by giving tax concessions. As a practical matter, many countries will not give up tax incentives, whatever the merits of the arguments for doing so.
- 58. A member from a developing country expressed the view that there was a contradiction between the World Trade Organization and tax agreements. In his view, EU felt that tax competition might harm it, but that the tax competition was not a problem for countries outside its region. He also restated the concern of the Group of Experts that treaties had failed to prevent double non-taxation.
- 59. An observer from a developing country maintained that OECD policies were biased in favour of inward investment which in turn was a major obstacle to development by developing countries. If treaties were not biased, they would work much better. He also asked the Group of Experts to stay away from tax haven jargon because it meant different things to different people. Instead, the Group of Experts should state what the problem actually was. Moreover, tax incentives were used extensively by developed countries during their development process; therefore, the possible use of tax incentives should not be dismissed. National capital in developing countries was not sufficient to generate economic growth at present, hence there was economic stagnation. Tax concessions emerged as a last resort to stimulate investment. Yet, if there were no tax incentives, in practice the investment would not be likely to occur. The solution to the problem was harmonization of tax incentives.
- 60. A member from a developed country asked what agreements developing countries should enter into. If developing countries did enter into tax conventions, what should their terms be? The member believed that it was very important for the Group of Experts to consider rigorous exchange-of-information agreements between countries.
- 61. The Chairperson noted that politicians had the last word on tax policy regarding tax incentives or an increase in taxes. The trend at the international level was a reduction in tax burden. Thus, it was not normal to have high taxes and tax concessions. If negotiating with a strong treaty partner, a country would provide tax

concessions. If a country relinquished source taxation, what did it receive in exchange? There was a lack of balance in treaty structures because treaties were drafted for developed countries. A member from a developed country questioned the above conclusion because the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention had been developed specifically for use by developing countries. The Chairman responded that the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, beyond specific points that maintained developing countries' legitimate tax rights, was similar to that of OECD in its structure. Thus, in his understanding, the Group of Experts was working to build a new and balanced United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, adapted to the new reality, rather than to dismantle it. He remarked that it was important to promote the increase in the flow of capital, basically to developing countries, by eliminating excessive international taxation, but that this needed to be achieved in an equitable way.

- 62. An observer from a developing country commented that there was a contradiction between higher income taxes and exemptions for foreign investments. It led to tax fraud and problems in collecting taxes. Use of a value-added tax was a better option since it did not discriminate. The Chairman responded that the exclusive use of regressive indirect taxes was not the best way to promote social changes in developing countries. Such practical solutions were being offered by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) as a means to improve the collection of taxes; however, in his view, there was a lack of justice if poor people must support a greater tax burden than the rich to cover the national budget (public expenditures).
- 63. Some observers noted that the language used to describe tax regimes that provided various tax benefits should be so chosen as to avoid needless offence. They suggested that the use of neutral rather than pejorative language would facilitate debate and enhance the prospects for agreements on substance.
- 64. It appeared to be the consensus of the Group of Experts that developing countries needed to design tax incentives for investment that were not harmful. In this regard, OECD had produced some good work. The international community was not ready for a multinational agreement on tax competition. Whether to use tax incentives entailed a sovereign decision by each country. However, the Group of Experts noted the ongoing OECD study on how to design tax incentives. Further, the Secretary of the Group of Experts noted that, on 5 August 2003, the Secretary-General had provided that the Group should be strengthened by being converted into an intergovernmental fiscal committee.

IV. Financial taxation and equity market development

- 65. Two papers were presented dealing with an analysis of the effects of tax structure on economic factors, such as economic growth and equity markets: one entitled "Financial taxation and equity market development: financial market tax policies for developing countries" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.5) and the other entitled "Economic equity market, and trade implications of and interactions with taxation in a multinational setting" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.5).
- 66. As the papers were addressing similar topics, they were considered in a single presentation, with attribution where appropriate. The papers focused on three areas of discussion, encompassing the relationship between tax structure and (a) economic growth and investment flows, (b) capital investment flows and the capital transfer decision model and (c) equity markets.
- 67. The presenter addressed each of the three areas and provided the results of research that were appropriate to each area. The results showed that there was evidence of a linkage between changes in tax structure and, specifically, economic development in the country of tax change as well as in other countries in the sample, FDI flows occurred between high-tax and low-tax countries, as well as between countries using the exemption method to tax foreign income and those using the foreign tax credit method, and both the demand and supply factors affected equity market development.
- 68. In general terms, the results were regarded as being of interest and, in some cases, of significant magnitude; the presenter, however, cautioned against the use of such results on two levels. First, inferences could be drawn, but the user must recognize that the research was limited in scope, in that there were numerous non-tax factors that affected economic growth and market development that had not been specified in the model. Second, without an in-depth review of the research design, it was not clear whether biases had been introduced, for example, by including only short-term effects or by failing to distinguish among harmful, beneficial and neutral tax concessions.
- 69. However, it was pointed out that, even with those caveats, there was value in the use of economic analysis in the discussions held by the Group of Experts. It was nonetheless further stated that such value could be assured only if the research was conducted rigorously and correctly, and care was taken to focus the effort.
- 70. The discussant presented his observations on the experience of the Mexico equity market. He emphasized the role of the non-tax factors in this type of analysis by referring to the Mexican experience of equity market development through a series of economic and political crises. He recounted, for example, how, during the rise in the price of oil in the 1980s, Mexico had offered better interest rates to attract investment. However, when the price of oil fell so did the fortunes of the country. As a consequence, the Government had to nationalize the banks. The crises led to less participation in the equity markets. The Government chose to issue high-yield debt. These steps were taken in an effort to enhance flexibility and development of the markets, but did not involve the financial centre in the process, with unfavourable results.
- 71. During the period 1990-1992, there had been a rise in share values, which was presented as one effect of the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) and

other free trade agreements. This was another example presented by the discussant of the importance of non-tax factors in the assessment of development. In summary, it was suggested by the discussant that taxes were not the only factor affecting the market or market development. Other factors included the search by investors for security and stability, and the fact that, as in the case of financial derivatives, the fiscal framework was behind the equity market. Following the discussant's remarks, many members, observers and others made a number of important remarks and observations.

- 72. A reoccurring observation was that capital markets needed: confidence, transparency, good infrastructure, a ready workforce, a stable government and political stability. In addition, many participants remarked that tax incentives played a role.
- 73. Because the world was not homogeneous, several members as well as the presenter recognized that not all capital markets were alike, nor did they react in the same way. Indeed, one member observed that, in his own country, policymakers had been so concerned with the consequences of creating a tax on capital that for some time they had avoided doing so. When they finally imposed a capital gains tax, they found that the equity markets showed little or no reaction.
- 74. Yet another member recounted the experience of India, where a challenge to the ability of investors to engage in treaty shopping had resulted in a decline in share values. It was suggested that this experience offered an example of the impact of tax treaties on equity markets.
- 75. A lengthy portion of the discussion open to the floor concerned the imposition or non-imposition of taxes on capital gains of non-residents. For example, the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention and the OECD Model Tax Convention provided for no tax on capital gains on portfolio shareholdings of non-residents, while they did tax dividend income of those persons. It was suggested by one observer that the non-taxation of capital gains in the source country had probably resulted in double non-taxation in many cases.
- 76. An observer recounted her country's experience with equity markets and taxation of capital. She recounted how her country during the 1990s had experienced a large inflow of capital. To avoid a "real shock", the country imposed a tax when capital entered the country, that is to say, the tax was paid "upfront". While not currently imposing the tax, the stated country had reserved the right to reimpose it at any time. The member then remarked that, in her opinion, the United Nations and OECD positions on taxation of capital gains and dividends were inconsistent. In support, one participant noted that dividends could sometimes be converted into capital gains quite easily and that some restrictions on very rapid capital flows seemed justified, given the economic waste resulting from the economic shocks of the late 1990s. An observer noted that conversion of dividends into capital gains was less of a problem for portfolio investment.
- 77. Other members suggested that, based on her experience, tax policy should not be introduced in times of fiscal crises. Indeed, the presenter agreed and suggested that this was precisely one of the observations made in the paper.
- 78. To illustrate the differences in capital markets, another member compared the equity markets of the United States and the United Kingdom with the markets of developing countries and transitional economy countries. He pointed out that the

United States equity market was shrinking and that the United Kingdom market had experienced only modest growth. His point was that neither would be a good example with respect to testing the effect of taxation on equity markets. His point was that an analyst must know the relevant market.

- 79. Another observer from a developing market noted that his country had recently opened a stock exchange and had provided generous tax incentives to stimulate it. Currently, it had about 20 companies on its stock exchange and its index was about 100. He suggested that perhaps his country was a good place within which to study the effects of taxation on capital markets.
- 80. In response, the Chair said that if that country converted to a market economy, it very well might experience substantial growth, which would have nothing to do with taxation. He suggested that if a country tried to provide benefits and incentives to attract capital, in the long run, it might do damage to the economy. The Chair noted that some countries imposed taxes on capital gains and dividends yet their economies still worked. The most important signals, he noted, for attracting foreign investments, among others, were related to juridical security and political, social and economic stability.
- 81. The presenter observed that in reality one could not equate the taxation of capital gains with that of dividends. He noted that the tax on capital gains to a large extent was a "secondary" tax, that is to say, it was imposed after the security had been created by its initial public offering (IPO). The tax on dividends, however, was a direct tax on corporate income being distributed to a shareholder. If the corporation did not issue a dividend, the wealth remained in the corporation. Hence, this distinction might be a valid basis upon which to treat the two differently. It was noted, nevertheless, that the distinction had validity only if dividends could not be converted into capital gains, as occurred in many countries.
- 82. Although everyone expects taxes to affect equity markets, this observation alone is not helpful, because other factors play a role. In 20 years of research on market behaviour, some analysts have confused the issue. Consequently, the results of their research may not be reliable.
- 83. The discussant noted that not all equity markets were the same. Mature markets could not be compared with immature markets. Taxation might not be as important in one market as it would be in another.
- 84. The Secretary referred to the report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the International Conference on Financing for Development (A/58/216), and particularly to paragraph 167, where he referred to the need for the Group of Experts to be converted into an intergovernmental body.
- 85. The Secretary also referred to the impact of tax incentive laws on tax competition and suggested that, inasmuch as taxation might be an important element in the investment decision, tax policies might also be used as an instrument with which to enhance both FDI and portfolio investment.
- 86. Tax authorities who were concerned that tax incentives were being directed at the foreign Government rather than at the investor might review with the tax authorities of the other contracting State whether a tax sparing credit could be applied. However, he pointed out that to achieve the objective of attracting FDI and

portfolio investment, there was a need for implementing far-reaching reforms so as to create the enabling environment for private sector development and investment. This enabling environment could be provided with the support and assistance of the United Nations under the above-mentioned suggested framework.

V. Transfer pricing

A. Simplified safe harbour procedures

- 87. A paper entitled "The unitary method and the less developed countries: preliminary thoughts" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7) was presented to the Group of Experts. Two additional papers entitled "The comparable profits methods and the arm's length principle" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7/Add.1) and "Transfer pricing: experience of Pakistan" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7/Add.2) were also presented. In analysing the first paper, the presenter pointed out that developing countries needed to examine the possibility of income taxation on a source rather than on a residency basis. Developing countries needed to act as a group, in concert, and use common definitions when determining allocable income. The thrust was that developing countries were capital importers, thus effective source-based taxation principles could be used. Serious problems arose when source/residency-based taxation structures were used.
- 88. The presenter also noted that unitary tax structures avoided the complexity of transfer pricing. Under a unitary structure, the source of income could be determined without relying on transfer pricing. Unitary taxation would take care of the problems of the arm's-length approach. A study group should be set up to develop a family of formulae for specific businesses, and define standards for the exercise of jurisdiction, foreign currency translation and arbitration procedures. Eventually, it might be possible to agree on a whole model. However, this result depended on developing countries' overcoming the huge difficulties related to their acting together in their common interest. Thus, it might be impossible to achieve this goal in the near future. In reviewing the other papers, the presenter concluded that the unitary method conflicted with the arm's-length principle. There was a continuing problem of determining profits under both the unitary and comparable pricing methods because they did not satisfy the arm's-length principle. In the home country of the presenter, the tax administration taxed income in the hands of a resident that would have accrued in the absence of transfer pricing. This represented an attempt to wriggle out of a problem, but might not constitute a solution to it.
- 89. The discussant remarked that the suggestion that a working group be established to study a unitary tax for developing countries seemed to be difficult to implement. Even the strongest and most developed countries that had implemented the structure had not been able to use it in an international context. Therefore, this was not a very feasible solution. The different transfer pricing methods were highly controversial and the fierce discussion between developed countries reflected that reality. Perhaps a first step was to see what sort of documents, under international accounting standards, could be agreed upon between all countries, both developed and developing, so that the fiscal authorities had a good and reasonable base upon which to make the transfer pricing adjustment. The Rapporteur noted that, as there were different kinds of developing countries, different kinds of principles were needed. Specific cases of differences should be referred to arbitration with the United Nations authority.
- 90. The Chairperson explained that the Group of Experts would discuss mediation and arbitration. However, he maintained that it was difficult to secure comparability under the arm's-length rule. Although the structure might be adequate for the purpose of controlling imaginary prices, tax administrations ran up against

tremendous difficulties. Perhaps use of a safe harbour method for transfer pricing might be a practical alternative. If pricing fell within certain parameters, the tax administration would accept the result. A problem might arise in reconciling safe harbour rules with treaties because safe harbour rules might move away from the normal price. In regard to unitary taxes, it was remarked that a very different result might obtain if the unitary method was used. Hence, the unitary method would be difficult to use on an international basis. Apparently, EU was currently experiencing a conflict over using the unitary method. Transfer pricing was a worldwide problem, because income, like water, tended to flow towards the lowest levels.

- 91. The Chairperson also explained that the Group of Experts had recommendations concerning the safe harbour norms and standards at the current meeting. Under article 27 of the Vienna Convention, if a country unilaterally adopted a safe harbour, it probably was in violation of its treaties, as the structure of the safe harbour rule was not based on an open market price. In practical terms, it was very hard to apply the arm's-length principle owing to the fact that a Government was asking for more revenue and companies were asking for the application of the terms of their contract, so that there was little or no tax liability. As developing countries might be exporting commodities with a known international price, the arm's-length method could operate effectively without the need for a safe harbour mechanism. The biggest problem existed in the area of intangibles. It was nevertheless noted that even in the case of commodities, some multinational corporations might use charges for alleged services to strip profits from a developing country.
- 92. A member from a developed country discussed the problem of determining comparables in accord with the arm's-length principle. In his country, the solution had been a system of advanced pricing agreements (APAs). Under the APA structure, multinational corporations were invited to approach the tax office in advance. By negotiation, a range of prices were determined that were in accord with the arm's-length price. The multinational corporation must supply evidence of the arm's-length price. The suggestion was made that developing countries might wish to consider this structure. The Chairperson responded that the needed technical capacity for APAs generally was not available to developing countries.
- 93. A member from a developing country noted that in theory transfer pricing was supposed to produce a realistic price, but it fell short in reality. Perhaps it was better to go from the specific to the general. There might be a simple division of areas into commodities, intangibles and value-added products. Unfortunately, what was needed was an expert economist with a large amount of data with which to carry out transfer pricing. A member from a developed country agreed that it was good to move from the specific to the general; for example, she was interested in the problem of economies of scale, raised by a member from a developing country. She also noted that OECD had meetings of transfer pricing inspectors to develop issues that were being further developed by the tax administrators in the Group of Experts. An adviser to the Group of Experts pointed out that safe harbours did not work well even for small businesses. The problem was that, although the arm's-length system worked reasonably well for sales of tangible property, when intangible property was put into the mix, the transfer pricing system was less successful, as intellectual property income was difficult to locate by source and very hard to price. The consequence was a tendency to use the profit-split method.

- 94. An observer suggested that international accounting standards should be used as a basis for obtaining information. Some new form of generally accepted accounting standards was needed whereby companies must disclose their intergroup trading. Affiliated groups would be required to file unconsolidated accounts. Then, tax administrators would find out about the aberrations in the profits of the multinational corporations.
- 95. A member from a developed country asserted that he could comprehend why the United States used the comparable price method, which relied on publicly available data. In contrast, Japan used secret information from taxpayer returns. In his view, it was very important in transfer pricing that taxpayers and the tax department be given equal footing. Information should not be controlled by tax administrators. The comparable price method could be improved for the purpose of using safe harbours.
- 96. In conclusion, the Chairperson noted that safe harbours were a practical tool for developing countries. At the same time, however, the topic was a highly complicated one because essentially, as had been pointed out in the OECD commentaries of the Transfer Pricing Guidelines, in order to build them it was necessary to work with presumptions and such presumptions normally went beyond the arm's-length rule. Safe harbour standards must be assessed in case there were treaties with other countries. In some cases, the implementation of a safe harbour might be inconsistent with the objectives of a treaty.

B. Intermediation and arbitration: European Union experience

- 97. A paper entitled "Intermediation and arbitration: the Arbitration Convention of the European Union for the resolution of transfer pricing disputes" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.8) was presented.
- 98. A developed-country member indicated that his country was not ready to introduce arbitration into models or treaties. The member stated that it favoured arbitration, but with sovereign decisions rather than an arbitration imposed by treaty provisions, and further, that the practicalities dictated that there were more pressing matters for consideration by the Group of Experts.
- 99. A developing-country observer said that he was in favour of a treaty provision, as it would supply taxpayers with an element of certainty, that is to say, with the assurance that, with an arbitration provision in the treaty, a decision could be forthcoming.
- 100. The Chair considered that States should be able to agree on such issues as would enter into the arbitration process in respect of what constituted a reasonable allocation. In that context, taking into account the experience of the developed countries (there had been only one case in EU in several years), developing countries must insist, on the one hand, on improving the efficiency of their tax administrations and, on the other hand, on working with the other contracting State in the field of mutual agreement procedure.
- 101. A developed-country member indicated developed countries had not adopted arbitration provisions in their treaties. One concern was that developing countries would be put at a disadvantage in that their levels of resources and expertise might

be much lower than those of the developed country on the other side of the arbitration process.

102. A member of a developed country indicated that he was in favour of the provision, noting that this would be a provision that could be accessed by a taxpayer in a taxpayer-versus-country question as well as by a country in a country-versus-country question. A member of a developed country added a new element to the discussion by sharing the fact that much pressure for adoption of the provision had been coming from members of the business sector, as they felt that this would give them some assurance of a timely and binding decision in such matters as might come before the arbitration.

103. Several observers, offering examples of highly complicated issues that had come before them as a result of specific types of business practices in their countries, expressed support for the arbitration, mostly so that they could secure a timely and binding decision and bring additional expertise to bear on the issue. One of those observers made two points: that there was an assumption that arbitration would be neutral and competent, and that arbitrators could be supplied in cases where the countries did not have the resources available at the time.

104. The Chair added a comment to the effect that there needed to be an assumption that any provision dealing with this topic would have to be drafted very clearly and carefully. A developing-country member expressed a concern that addressed the resources-related concern that had been expressed earlier, and pointed out that arbitration would come down to the toss of a coin if the resources and expertise of the parties were not balanced.

105. One developed-country member provided an estimate of costs of arbitration. His estimate was a cost of 50,000 euros per arbitration event. The Chair noted that this was a question related to political considerations because a significant number of countries did not object to applying the arbitration method.

VI. Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation

106. The discussion related to the report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the International Conference on Financing for Development (A/58/216). The discussion took place over two sessions, on 17 and 18 December 2003.

107. The specific proposal in the section of the document that had been submitted to the meeting addressed the upgrading of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters into an intergovernmental body, in the form either of a committee of governmental experts or a special new commission, as a subsidiary of the Economic and Social Council (para. 167).

108. The following is a summary of the presentation of the paper entitled "Institutional framework for international tax cooperation" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.6). The presenter began by stating the two key recommendations of the paper. The first recommendation was that the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters should be converted into a commission within the Economic and Social Council. A major effect of that change would be that the members of the commission would participate as representatives of their Governments instead of in their individual capacity. As with the Group of Experts, the members of the commission would be drawn from developed, developing and emerging countries.

109. The second recommendation was that the upgraded institution should have a technical staff adequate to support its activities, which might be established through redeployment of staff within the United Nations. The presenter suggested that such a staff might include some tax professionals drawn from accountancy, law and economics. Members of the staff would represent the commission in various international forums and meetings and would attempt to present the views of developing countries and transitional economies at such meetings. The staff would also act as a clearing house for tax materials of interest to developing countries and would organize workshops to give technical assistance on international tax matters. It would not duplicate functions currently performed capably by other international bodies.

110. The presenter explained that the proposed commission would be modelled on the Fiscal Committee of the League of Nations, which had operated effectively in drafting some early model tax conventions. The proposal reflected the view that existing institutional arrangements did not give the developing countries an effective voice on the establishment of international tax norms of great importance to them. The presenter suggested that only a forum formed within the United Nations was likely to have the legitimacy to set international norms. The proposal built on, rather than urged the replacement of, the Group of Experts. Its implementation would not preclude the use of ad hoc groups to deal with particular international issues, nor would it prevent members of the commission from acting in their individual capacity on certain matters.

111. According to the presenter, the proposal had been offered in the context of the development goals established by the Monterrey Consensus of the International

Conference on Financing for Development.³ It treated the issue of international taxation as part of a development strategy. The Monterrey Consensus had established the critical importance of taxation as the primary engine for mobilizing resources for development. It had also found that domestic taxation could not function well without an enabling domestic environment. The presence of an enabling environment meant that capital flight and international tax avoidance and evasion must be controlled. Given the loss of sovereignty that would result from the opening of an economy to outside investment and trade, countries needed to cooperate to regain their lost sovereignty and to exercise effective control over their domestic tax policy.

- 112. The discussant generally expressed support for the proposal, indicating that it was important for the developing countries to have a voice when the important norms of international taxation were being established. He also stressed the need for a technical staff to deal with the complicated issues of international taxation on a regular basis. He nevertheless suggested that the technical staff might offer tax assistance on domestic tax matters in some instances, owing to the importance of upgrading capacity in many developing countries.
- 113. The Secretary then summarized recent developments with respect to the proposal at the United Nations. He noted that the aforementioned report of the Secretary-General had stated that the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters should be converted into an intergovernmental body, in the form either of a committee of government experts or of a special new commission, as a subsidiary body of the Economic and Social Council. He also called to the attention of the Group of Experts the recent draft resolution submitted by the Vice-Chairman of the Second Committee, Mr. Henri S. Raubenheimer (South Africa), on the basis of informal consultations held on draft resolutions A/C.2/58/L.39 and A/C.2/58/L.40, entitled "Follow-up to and implementation of the outcome of the International Conference on Financing for Development" (A/C.2/58/L.83), in which the General Assembly requested the Council, in its examination of the report of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters at its next substantive session, to give consideration to the institutional framework for international cooperation in tax matters. (The draft resolution was subsequently adopted as Assembly resolution 58/230 on 23 December 2003.) A discussion followed.
- 114. Comments were made by a large number of members and observers, many expressing strong support for the proposal, some raising issues that needed to be addressed, some expressing various reservations, and some indicating a preference for the status quo. Support was strongest from representatives of developing countries, non-governmental organizations, civil society, professional organizations, and those with university affiliations, whereas reservations and a preference for the status quo came primarily, but not exclusively, from representatives of developed countries. Some representatives of regional and international organizations supported the proposal, and some expressed reservations to it.
- 115. On the following seven points, there seemed to be a consensus: (a) that the work of the Group of Experts ought to be strengthened; (b) that the developing and

³ Report of the International Conference on Financing for Development, Monterrey, Mexico, 18-22 March 2002 (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.02.II.A.7), chap. I, resolution 1, annex.

emerging countries ought to have an effective forum for expressing their views on international tax issues; (c) that any new or revised institutional arrangement ought to build on the work of the current Group of Experts; (d) that a meeting held once every two years was inadequate; (e) that any institutional arrangement should limit the membership sufficiently so that it could operate effectively; (f) that the membership should include representatives from developed, developing and transitional economy countries; and (g) that Governments should select tax officials as their representatives.

- 116. During the discussions, support and reservations were expressed by many participants. By the conclusion of the two sessions, there had been many more statements of support for the proposal than statements of objection.
- 117. No summary can capture all of the expressions of support for the proposal or of reservations to it. In many cases, participants endorsed the expressions of support or reservations of previous speakers, although they often added their own personal observations.
- 118. Those supporting the proposal made the following points:
- (a) That the United Nations was the only international organization with the legitimacy to set universal norms relating to international taxation and that the proposed forum would give greater legitimacy to the proposals emanating from it;
- (b) That the creation of a professional staff through redeployment was critical if the forum was to carry out its work effectively, especially as it had moved to deal with international tax matters outside the scope of a model tax convention;
- (c) That an elevated status for the forum within the United Nations would give the forum a greater opportunity to respond promptly to the ever-changing international environment;
- (d) That a commission would provide a venue from which to exert international pressure on accountancy groups to support more open disclosure of the existing "reconciliation" records of taxpayers, which showed their intercompany transfers. Disclosure of those records would greatly facilitate audits and would encourage consistent and fair treatment of taxpayers across national boundaries;
- (e) That an enhanced arrangement and secretariat would make it feasible for the United Nations to participate effectively in the international and regional tax organizations, including the International Tax Dialogue, thereby providing a means for developing countries to obtain more effective assistance from the United Nations, the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and other international and regional tax organizations;
- (f) That the need for a body with international legitimacy to address issues of international taxation was obvious and critical and was going to be fulfilled inevitably. Consequently, the real choice for this Group of Experts was whether it wished to be a part of this inevitable development.
- 119. Those participants objecting or having significant reservations to the proposal made the following points:
- (a) That a forum in which individuals spoke as government representatives rather than in their individual capacity might not work as smoothly or effectively as the current Group of Experts;

- (b) That the work of the forum might become more political and less cooperative;
- (c) That the Group of Experts should make better use of its existing resources:
- (d) That the Group of Experts could become more effective within its current institutional arrangements by focusing narrowly on particular problems in particular developing countries;
- (e) That any change in the status quo should be postponed for consideration at a later time;
- (f) That the forum might become unwieldy if it included representation from all 191 countries of the world or that, if it excluded some countries, it would fail to be representative;
 - (g) That some new bureaucracy was not desirable;
- (h) That it was difficult to know exactly what the form and nature of such a forum might be;
- (i) That the Group of Experts should maintain its current status but should organize itself so as to operate more closely with other organizations.
- 120. Many comments were made about strengthening the work of the forum that would be applicable without reference to the institutional framework adopted. For example, several people noted that the forum should work as efficiently as possible, and that it particularly should deal with technical and training issues that were important to developing countries. Some participants felt that the forum should address development issues unrelated to international taxation.
- 121. Various comments were made in response to some of the objections that had been raised about the proposal. One participant suggested that the rules that the United Nations had in place for providing fair representation on limited-membership bodies could be employed in setting the membership rules for the proposed forum. It would be possible, therefore, to have a legitimate and fairly representative commission and still keep the forum small enough to operate effectively and economically.
- 122. One participant suggested that the forum could establish operating procedures that retained some of the existing informality of proceedings. He noted that many international bodies with professional membership acted on a collegial basis for most of their activities. Only on certain highly sensitive issues or issues requiring a formal vote had it been necessary for members to act as government representatives.
- 123. In response to the objection that the forum might become political as a result of its conversion to a commission, one participant suggested that one of the reasons that her Government supported a fuller role for the United Nations on international cooperation in tax matters had been the attempts in the past by some international organizations to impose their political position on some developing countries without those countries having any voice in the formulation of the policies. She noted that a strengthening of the role of the United Nations would add legitimacy to the development of international tax norms.

- 124. Those participants objecting to the proposal offered responses to some of the points made in support of the proposal. One participant suggested that the elevation of the forum to commission status would not ensure that more resources would become available. It was also suggested that the forum could have influence, and had had influence, despite a lack of formal status. The United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, for example, had had a great deal of influence, notwithstanding the ad hoc nature of the Group of Experts.
- 125. The Secretariat indicated that the United Nations frequently provided full opportunities for participation by observers. Observers had made valuable contributions to the forum and should continue to do so even if some new institutional arrangement was adopted.

VII. Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments

126. A paper entitled "Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.10) was presented. The presenter pointed out that there had been capital flight from developed countries to other developed countries and to offshore financial centres. Moreover, there had been capital flight from developing countries to both onshore and offshore financial centres. It was hard to obtain precise figures on the total amount of flight capital, but it was estimated to have been very substantial, perhaps in the range of several trillion United States dollars. The amount of flight capital from developing countries was difficult to determine.

127. The presenter said that he had not seen figures from authoritative sources about the total volume of capital flight. Perhaps OECD had and could provide such estimates. Also, it was necessary to exercise great care in talking about the amount of capital flight because the amount of tax evasion could be substantially less than the amount of capital flight.

128. Recently, more emphasis had been placed on international tax cooperation and the exchange of tax information in order to try to limit capital flight, and on the need to improve the tax administration in developing countries in order to try to mobilize domestic resources. First, the presenter mentioned two recent reports. The report of the High-level Panel on Financing for Development (see A/55/1000 of 26 June 2001), also known as the Zedillo report, had recommended tax information sharing (between countries) that permitted the taxation of flight capital. The Monterrey Consensus, contained in the annex to resolution 1 of chapter I of the report of the International Conference on Financing for Development, held in Monterrey, Mexico, from 18 to 22 March 2002, had encouraged strengthening international tax cooperation.

129. Capital flight usually results from bank secrecy and confidentiality, and tax-free treatment of interest on bank deposits in major financial centres. Many of the major financial centres — whether onshore or offshore — provide such confidentiality and tax-free treatment. Governments in major financial centres, both onshore and offshore, argue that even if one country closed its doors to flight capital, the flight capital would merely go to another country's financial centre. Therefore, each Government argues, why should that country close its door to flight capital? This emphasizes that multilateral efforts are required to confront the problem of capital flight and the resulting tax evasion.

130. The presenter indicated that there had been two recent, significant developments with respect to combating capital flight. First, EU had taken steps against capital flight. The EU Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income established the important principle that cross-border interest payments within EU to individuals resident in EU should be subject to taxation. The mechanism for such taxation is either (a) the automatic exchange of information between EU countries or (b) a withholding tax in the country where the payer of the interest is located. The EU Savings Directive, however, does not apply to interest paid from EU countries to residents of third countries. Therefore, the EU Savings Directive will have no direct impact on capital flight from residents of third countries into EU, especially capital flight into EU financial centres.

- 131. The second significant development was the effort by OECD and its Fiscal Committee to limit the use of tax havens and to limit capital flight from OECD countries to those tax havens. In 1998, the OECD Fiscal Committee issued a report entitled Harmful Tax Competition: An Emerging Global Issue (the 1998 OECD Report). OECD followed up on the 1998 OECD Report with additional reports and a Model Agreement on Exchange of Information on Tax Matters. However, the presenter indicated that the impact of the OECD proposals was only to limit capital flight from OECD countries to tax havens, and to limit tax evasion in the OECD countries. The presenter mentioned that in spite of the language in the OECD Reports and in spite of the statements of some OECD officers, the OECD proposals and the OECD Model Agreement on Exchange of Information on Tax Matters did not try to limit capital flight from third countries into OECD countries and into OECD financial centres.
- 132. The presenter questioned whether EU and OECD would confront the issue of capital flight from third countries into bank deposits in the major financial centres. Would EU and OECD take steps to implement the taxation of cross-border interest income paid directly or indirectly to residents in third countries on such flight capital?
- 133. The presenter asked whether this growing attention to capital flight, including the EU Savings Directive and the OECD proposals would presumably lead to greater scrutiny by third countries of the policies of the EU and the OECD to determine their even-handedness. A major issue now was how third countries would react to the emphasis of EU and OECD on the importance of the taxation of capital flight. Would third countries undertake efforts to try to stop flight of capital from third countries into the major financial centres, whether onshore or offshore? The recommendations of the Zedillo report and the recommendations of the Monterrey Consensus had been clear: there was a need for the exchange of tax information to help stop capital flight, and for international tax cooperation to assist developing countries.
- 134. The presenter ended his presentation by stating that it had emphasized the importance of the multilateral approach to issues related to capital flight.
- 135. The discussant recognized the work done by OECD and EU but pointed out that more could be done. He described the work as a "living process". The discussant pointed out that a critical element in fighting the problem was exchange of information. The discussant acknowledged the work done by OECD as reflected in its 2001 report describing a process whereby a tax haven could obtain assistance in changing its modus operandi and cooperating in the information exchange process. The discussant also described the work done by EU as reflected in the introduction of its saving directive. However, capital flight was a problem not just for EU and OECD: the savings directive should be extended to encompass all countries. The discussant ended his comments by remarking that one could never do enough to combat capital flight.
- 136. The proceedings were opened to the floor. A member noted that the work done by OECD and EU had constituted steps in the right direction. Remarks by several member countries indicated that capital flight was a serious problem for developing countries as well as for developed ones. The example was cited of a high-level government official who might choose to deposit in a developed country assets taken illegally from a developing country.

- 137. A comment came from a participant concerning the correctness of paragraph 61 of the paper in that it had stated that "very significantly, the OECD proposal has delayed confronting directly the issue of cross-border interest payments on bank deposits and other saving instruments". He advised that OECD had confronted directly the issue of cross-border interest payments on bank deposits in its 2000 report entitled *Improving Access to Bank Information for Tax Purposes* and in its subsequent work described in *The 2003 Progress Report: Improving Access to Bank Information for Tax Purposes*. The participant said OECD was continuing its work regarding tax evasion. He also characterized the work of OECD as having a beneficial "spillover" effect upon which other countries could draw. The presenter noted that his paper was dated July 2003 and had preceded the 2003 OECD Progress Report.
- 138. A member made a comment not directly related to the paper presented but related to the topic. She indicated that her country did not automatically provide information to its treaty partners but certainly did so when requested.
- 139. Another member voiced his concern with respect to money-laundering and noted that in order to be accepted in the international community, a country needed to act against money-laundering and must participate in information exchange.
- 140. Another member from a developed country offered his personal experience regarding automatic information exchange. Having participated in these exchanges, he said that they had entailed gathering a vast amount of information and were administratively burdensome. He also noted that automatic information exchange was only one of several tools to be used by tax administrators. His personal view was that the increase in the rate of compliance in his country had been not only to better information-gathering but also to greater faith in the system.
- 141. The Chairman commented that once information has been acquired by the taxing authorities, it became exchangeable.
- 142. Another country stated that often the information alone was not enough: technical assistance was also needed.
- 143. One member stated and others agreed that capital flight was a two-part issue involving (a) information exchange and (b) rate of taxation. He indicated that if a country did not tax a certain kind of income, such as portfolio income, it would be difficult if not impossible to compete with that country. One member noted that since countries use different Tax Identification Numbers (TINs), exchange of information became difficult.
- 144. Another member commented regarding the OECD standards and noted that there was one (less stringent) standard for OECD members and another (more stringent) standard for non-OECD members. Still another member noted the importance of confidentiality when engaging in information exchange, citing an instance where information had gone to the wrong country and had become public.
- 145. One participant noted that OECD, in its 2000 report on access to bank information, had expressly adopted the principle that its member countries should have access to bank information and should exchange that information with treaty partners. He recommended that the Group of Experts, at a minimum, should adopt such a principle.

VIII. Electronic commerce and developing countries

- 146. There were two papers for discussion. The first was entitled "Impact of electronic commerce on allocation of tax revenue between developed and developing countries" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L9) written by Professor Chang Hee Lee. The other was entitled "International taxation of electronic commerce" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.9) written by Professor Reuven Avi-Yonah.
- 147. The major arguments in Professor Lee's paper were the following: that the existing norms of inter-jurisdictional revenue allocation were not valid in a digital era; that tax neutrality would justify a new order that assigned more revenue to the developing countries; and that the United Nations might consider revising the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention to the advantage of the developing countries.
- 148. To support his viewpoints, the author referred to four important issues:
- (a) The dichotomy between capital and labour, or property and service, upon which the present international tax rules were based, was not valid in a digitalized era (paras. 18-19);
- (b) Electronic commerce (e-commerce) had caused the traditional concept of permanent establishment to break down (paras. 22-24);
- (c) The impact of e-commerce on service income was more devastating because in a digitalized world, service could be provided across the globe without physical contact with the location where the service was consumed (para. 25);
- (d) The consumption tax was also seriously affected, because e-commerce made it impossible for the importing country to enforce its substantive right to collect tax (para. 26).
- 149. To solve the above problems, the paper made two specific proposals:
- (a) Add a paragraph to article 7 (Business profits) that would permit a host country to impose withholding tax on all payments to a non-resident e-supplier in general or, upon the host country's election, on a payment to a non-resident e-supplier from a domestic business that could deduct the payment;
- (b) Change article 7 (4) so as to permit a host country to adopt a formula of apportionment if an e-supplier had a permanent establishment in the host country or if sales by a non-resident e-supplier exceeded a certain sum of money (para. 58).
- 150. While Professor Lee's paper suggested solutions within the framework of double tax conventions, Professor Avi-Yonah's paper suggested that e-commerce be carved out of double tax treaties. To be specific, three proposals were put forward. First, it was proposed that the permanent establishment concept be replaced with a *de minims* rule, meaning that a *de minims* amount of gross income earned through e-commerce from the importing country should be established as the threshold for withholding of tax by the importing jurisdiction. The second proposal addressed the distinction among incomes from services, royalties and sales of goods, each of which was currently taxed in a different manner. Since e-commerce rendered this distinction largely incoherent, it was proposed that for e-commerce, royalties, service income and sales income, all should be treated as active income without further distinction. Such income as a whole should be subject to the *de minims*

threshold and the withholding tax outlined in the first proposal. The third proposal was based on the observation that e-commerce made it extremely difficult to enforce transaction-based transfer pricing. Therefore, it was proposed that the matter of transfer pricing in the e-commerce context be addressed by using global profit splits on the basis of functional analysis of the related parties involved.

- 151. A comparison of the two papers showed that both favoured a withholding tax on the payments to non-residents if the income had been obtained through ecommerce. However, while Professor Lee's proposal remained within the tax treaty framework, Professor Avi-Yonah's proposal went beyond it.
- 152. The discussant stated that, in general, the problems that needed to be addressed in any sort of e-commerce taxation system involved: identifying the participants, identifying the location of the business, securing documentation and proof of the transaction, identifying specific economic characteristics of the type of e-commerce business, and collection of the taxes. Further, based on information that had come from an example extensively investigated which he had shared, the discussant said the challenges were to create a system that had agency cooperation, featured information exchange and was timely.
- 153. Also through the use of an example, he demonstrated that issues specific to the developing countries were the wide differential in tax systems, the amount of time consumed by the judicial process, and the revenue leakage during that time.
- 154. The Chair expressed concerns about the dynamics and speed of resolving those questions in the business sector.
- 155. One observer commented that they had looked at the problem but had come to no conclusion, primarily because of definitional issues. While there had been a history in the business community of telecommunications income, the nature of ecommerce was so different that the definitions did not fit historical models.
- 156. Another observer noted an example of the use of value-added taxes at the user location that had been fraught with problems, not the least of which was the issue of the sophistication of the user. He also noted that while value-added taxes might provide an answer, there was also an incentive to make decisions on permanent establishment locations on the basis of value-added tax differentials and corporate establishment decisions based on corporate income tax differentials.
- 157. Several points were contributed by a developed-country member. Electronic commerce added great complexity to the business model in terms of logistics, for example, timing, which could restrict growth. Most electronic commerce was between businesses (B2B) not between businesses and customers (B2C). There was uncertainty, for example, as to when, under old rules, continued sales constituted permanent establishment. The use of threshold rules in the process of considering e-commerce issues would eliminate such uncertainties.
- 158. An observer, citing examples from his own country, again emphasized the issue of timeliness and stated that the use of mutual assistance did not meet the timeliness needs of business and the countries involved.
- 159. An observer commented that the primary issue here was not B2B, but rather digital services and intangible products, that in many of the previous estimates, the impact of e-commerce, from either tax or economic perspectives, had been

overrated or absent; and that the issue might entail not the loss of the revenue of developing countries to developed countries, but rather the opposite.

- 160. The Secretary emphasized the Chair's comments that the dynamics of the issue, placed pressure on the existing model and necessitated that action be ex ante rather than ex post, since, by then, many of the results would have already been produced.
- 161. A member emphasized the points that had been made by earlier commentators, but put them in the context of their providing just one more example of the speed of business being ahead of the speed of change of tax models. In that regard, resolution of the issue perhaps needed input from the business perspective, that is to say, the input should be a business-based description of the model followed by development of the applicable law.
- 162. An observer contributed two comments. Making an analogy with respect to domestic taxes, the observer noted that there was substantial economic evidence to support a previous commentator's contention that the issue was not solely one of loss of revenue by developing countries to developed countries. Also, while there was an allocation element related to the issue that could be worked out by countries and legitimate businesses, the real risk of revenue losses stemmed from transfer pricing issues because of significant cost differentials, and from lack of information on illegitimate business operations.

IX. Revision and update of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries and revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries

163. A paper entitled "Commentary on the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries" (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.12) was presented to the Group of Experts. The presenter noted that the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries (2003 version)⁴ had been initially adopted in 1979 and was the most recent version of the guide designed to accompany the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention. He noted that at the tenth meeting of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters the draft Manual had been examined and several revisions were made and accepted (see E/2002/6, sect. II).

164. At its tenth meeting, the Group of Experts had decided that because the Manual was of great importance to developing countries and transitional economy countries, the revision of the Manual should be one of its ongoing activities.

165. The presenter made several comments regarding the Manual, suggesting that consideration should be given to adding a glossary. The Manual should contain a designation as to the date of its last revision or, alternatively, a version number. When examples were given to illustrate a particular point, they should be displayed in indented format to draw the reader's attention to them and to separate them from textual material. Consideration should be given to publishing the Manual on the World Wide Web with embedded links (hyperlinks) to background material, tax treaties, references, etc. Consideration should be given to adding a section that would contain additional resources for the tax administrator including references to other resources upon which the administrator or negotiator might draw. The Manual should contain more examples and perhaps more detail on critical aspects of treaty negotiation along with actual case studies. The use of "outcome assessments" should be considered for the purpose of obtaining feedback and suggestions from those who used the Manual.

166. **Comments on part one**. The presenter noted that the introduction was too complex: consideration should be given to shortening it or eliminating it altogether. The "Historical overview" discussion (paras. 51-70) were too detailed and went too far back. The long discussions in the footnotes (encompassing paras. 72-76) should be reduced in length. He suggested that the material on the history of tax evasion be eliminated.

167. **Comments on part two**. The part of the Manual on the "United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention" raised significant problems of interpretation. A reader could confuse "Observations" with "Commentary" in respect of significance. At a minimum, the Manual should make it clear that its only purpose was educational and instructive and that it did not have the same status as the official

⁴ ST/ESA/PAD/SER.E/37.

Commentary in terms of interpreting the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention.

- 168. The presenter suggested that, to avoid confusion and misinterpretation, it might be better to delete the part of the Manual on the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention and ask the reader to read (refer to) the official Convention and Commentary.
- 169. Additionally, there was a danger that, as the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention was revised and updated, the changes would not be reflected in the Manual, thus causing the Manual to retain erroneous and outdated articles and observations.
- 170. **Comments on part three**. As addenda to a training Manual, the annexes were not all helpful or necessary; the presenter therefore suggested limiting the number of annexes.
- 171. **Suggested additional topics**. Additional topics were suggested such as capital flight, anti-avoidance principles such as economic substance, business purpose, economic benefit, abuse of law, assignment of income, anti-deferral regimes like controlled foreign company legislation, taxation of passive investment held in foreign entities, foreign trust regimes, and anti-tax haven regimes and other anti-avoidance legislation.
- 172. The topic of cybercrimes was also suggested for inclusion. The Manual could address, or alert the negotiator to, the correct method of gathering and preserving evidence of criminal activity and gathering and preserving electronic evidence. The Manual could address taxation of online commerce, including e-commerce contracts, exchange of electronic keys, digital signatures, impound accounts, crossborder transactions, banking and payment mechanisms, international e-commerce taxation, online financial services, and money-laundering.
- 173. The Manual could familiarize the reader with the basic concepts and themes of intellectual property law in both national and international arenas.
- 174. The discussion was opened to the floor. The Chairman noted that, to his mind, a manual was a document that would be used to facilitate negotiation, in this case, of a treaty. He gave an example of an automobile manual and its relationship to operation and ownership. He noted the redundancy of the Manual when compared with the Model Double Taxation Convention. He stated that the Convention and the Commentary had authority but that the Manual observations had no authority and should stand alone.
- 175. An adviser pointed out that the Manual had been published in 1979 and preceded the Convention by one year. This explained the redundancy found in the two documents. The adviser indicated that if the Manual was to be revised, its revision would require a highly collaborative effort. This view was echoed by several members.
- 176. The member then discussed the effort necessary to draft a more appropriate document. Several participants suggested that in order to make the document useful to a treaty negotiator, "input" from treaty negotiators on the reasons for taking positions on various articles would be beneficial. One member indicated such input could be obtained in a series of conference calls.

- 177. Several members noted that while the revision of the Manual was important, there were more pressing needs.
- 178. Many members from developing countries expressed the view that a useful document would be beneficial to them, a view echoed by several developed countries. Those in favour of a revised Manual noted that some of the topics highlighted by the presenter would be useful to treaty negotiators. Practical advice on treaty abuse and anti-avoidance would be helpful.
- 179. There was a consensus that the current Manual should not be published. The Secretary advised that a scaled-down version should be produced in a more practical and useful format.
- 180. A proposal on the update of the Commentaries on article 1 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention was presented at the meeting (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.11/Add.1). The proposal was complementary to the presentation and discussion undertaken on the subject of treaty shopping and treaty abuses.
- 181. The proposal was based on the following assumptions: The update of the Commentaries on article 1 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention should take into account, as a point of departure, the update undertaken by OECD in 2003 to the Commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention. Nevertheless, it was stressed that it was impossible to automatically adopt and transfer all the amendments made by OECD to its Model Tax Convention, since there had been little discussion on certain issues at the meeting of the Group of Experts. For that reason, it was suggested not to incorporate in the Commentaries on article 1 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, paragraph 20 of the Commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention dealing with a "limitation of benefits" clause, or other paragraphs dealing with the incorporation of specific clauses to curb inappropriate use of double tax conventions through integration with some domestic preferential tax regimes of the other contracting State (paras. 21.1, 21.3 and 21.4 of the new Commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention), or the amendments made to paragraph 23 in relation to the acceptance of controlled foreign corporations (CFC) legislation under double taxation conventions.
- 182. Nevertheless, it was stressed that only the amendments of the Commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention should be taken into account, and not others, such as those dealing with the meaning of the "beneficial owner" clause in articles 10, 11 and 12 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, taking into account the limited scope of the discussion.
- 183. It was stressed that the main amendment made by the Commentaries on article 1 should be applied to the United Nations Double Taxation Convention in order to clarify the relationship between double taxation conventions and the application of domestic anti-abuse tax provisions. Cases were reported where domestic anti-abuse tax provisions had been applied to counteract abuse of double taxation conventions. It was stressed that the general view of the majority of States was that the application of domestic anti-abuse tax provisions to counteract abuses of double taxation conventions should be allowed and therefore that paragraphs 9.1 to 9.6 of the OECD Model Tax Convention should be incorporated in the Commentaries on the articles of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention.

184. Nevertheless, it was considered that the content of paragraph 9.5 of the Commentaries on article 1 of the OECD Model Tax Convention should be discussed by the members of the Group of Experts in order to determine the common requirements in respect of abuse to be followed by all countries when applying a double taxation convention.

185. This consideration was completed by an express reference to the primacy of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, which was to be respected in any case with regard to the application of domestic anti-abuse rules.

186. The importance was also stressed of the inclusion of a specific safeguard clause in double taxation conventions that would enhance the application of domestic anti-abuse provisions, preserving their non-application as a consequence of the primacy of international conventions. A member of a developed country confirmed that this was in conformity with its particular policy when signing double taxation conventions.

187. A debate followed. The majority of the members and observers stressed that the amendment of the Commentaries on article 1 deserved further attention and a final decision should not be made until the next meeting of the Group of Experts. An observer from a developed country expressed her concern about the need to revise the amendments taken from the OECD Model Tax Convention Commentaries in order to preserve an equilibrium among the positions of differing countries. It was decided to continue with the process of discussing the different approaches through electronic means in order to enable the formulation of a consensus on the elaboration of the Commentaries, to be discussed in the next meeting of the Group of Experts.

X. Conclusion

188. For the preparation of the twelfth meeting of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters, the Group of Experts suggested the following issues:

- 1. **Earnings stripping**. Issues of earnings stripping (reducing taxable profits from inappropriate deductions) through excessive changes for services, interest, technical fees, and the like, and the possible responses. The discussion of responses would include domestic legislation and any changes in treaty language that might be needed to enable such domestic legislation. In preparation for the discussion, it might be possible to obtain:
- (a) Reports of participants from the United States, the United Kingdom and other developed countries on their legislation dealing with stripping schemes:
 - (b) Reports on experiences of developing countries.
- 2. **Modified definition of "permanent establishment"**. The current definition of "permanent establishment" has proved difficult for many developing countries, particularly the requirement of a "fixed" location and the use of multiple permanent establishments for related business activities. OECD has begun a re-examination of the permanent establishment concept as a result of its work on e-commerce. The United Nations might wish to examine whether the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention should be modified in various ways to deal with the practical problems that have resulted from the current definition.
- 3. *Treaty shopping*. Whether the United Nations should recommend an article on the limitation of benefits that would be responsive to the needs of developing countries. In particular, many developing countries have difficulty negotiating treaties with some developed countries because the major taxpayers in those countries are able to obtain the benefits of a treaty by using the treaty negotiated with another country. Perhaps the limitations-on-benefits article in the Chile/New Zealand convention could serve as a starting point in developing a model article.
- 4. Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries. Reformulation of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries to be used as a glossary for reference, encompassing use in international taxation, the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention, tax treaties negotiations and training.
- 5. United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries. Revision of articles 1 (Persons covered), 5 (Permanent establishment), 26 (Exchange of information) and 27 (Assistance in the collection of taxes).
- 189. At the closing of the eleventh meeting, many participants emphasized the importance of the work of the Group of Experts to their countries and, particularly, the importance of the agenda covering the eleventh meeting. They emphasized that the enlargement of the Group of Experts to include additional participants had been

a useful development since international taxation was also relevant to their tax authorities. Other participants considered that the Group of Experts should cover more efficiently the subjects in the agenda, that the number of items covered should be more limited and that there should be more frequent meetings. The Group of Experts considered that the United Nations should take this into account, especially in light of current aspects of financing for development and other relevant considerations. The meeting closed with statements by participants on the importance of the work accomplished and the contribution of the Secretariat. Both the Chairperson and the Secretary of the Group of Experts recognized the need for further streamlining of the Group of Experts and acknowledged their support for taking into consideration the participants' recommendations.

Annex I

List of participants

A. Experts

Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa Cabinet Adviser on Tax Matters Ministry of Economy and Production Esmeralda 961 - 30 "I"

Capital Federal

1007 — Ciudad de Buenos Aires

Argentina

Office tel: 5411 4 311 8105 Home tel: 5411 4 542 0900 Fax: 5411 4 314 0581

E-mail: ahfig@cponline.org.ar

Mr. Kenneth Allen

Consultant

Australian Taxation Office

The Treasury Langton Crescent Parkes ACT 2600

Australia

Office tel: 61 2 62 16 15 19 Home tel: 61 2 62 92 18 21 Fax: 61 2 62 16 23 62

E-mail: ktallen@ozemail.com.au

Ms. Luciana Mesquita Sabino de Freitas Cussi

Head, International Tax Affairs Division

Federal Revenue Secretariat

Ministry of Finance

Esplanada dos Ministérios

Room 723

Brasília, D.F. 70048-900

Brazil

Office tel: 55 61 412 2733/5 Home tel: 55 61 347 0481 Fax: 55 61 224 5501

E-mail: Luciana.mesquita-cussi@receita.fazenda.gov.br

Mr. Liao Tizhong

Director

Tax Treaty Division

International Taxation Department State Administration of Taxation

No. 5 Yangfangdian Xilu, Haidian District

Beijing 100038

China

Office tel: 86 10 63 41 7824

Home tel: 86 10 63 44 94 11 Fax: 86 10 63 41 7874 E-mail: ltz@chinatax.gov.cn

Mr. Abdoulaye Camara

Directeur de la Législation et du Contentieux

Direction Générale des Impôts

B.P.V. 103 Abidjan Côte d'Ivoire

Office tel: 225 20 21 71 26 or 20 22 65 82

Home tel: 225 22 47 36 60

Fax: 225 20 21 71 26 or 20 22 87 86 E-mail: camarabd@hotmail.com

Mr. Mahmoud Mohammed Ali

Sales Tax Department Commissioner and

General Supervisor of the Model Customs and Tax Centre

26 Obour Building Nasr City, Cairo

Egypt

Office tel: 202 40 34 896 Home tel: 2 62 525 05 24

Fax: 202 40 34 897

E-mail: m.aly@salestax.gov.eg

Mr. Pascal Saint-Amans Administrateur Civil Chef du Bureau E-1

Direction de la Législation Fiscale

Ministère de l'Economie, des Finances et de l'Industrie

139 rue de Bercy 75575 Paris Cedex 12

France

Office tel: 33 1 53 18 92 00 Home tel: 33 1 43 29 82 39

Fax: 33 1 53 18 96 90

 $E\text{-}mail: pascal.saint\text{-}amans@dgi.finances.gouv.fr}$

Dr. Wolfgang K.A. Lasars

Director of International Tax Division

Federal Ministry of Finance

Wilhelmstrasse 97 D-10117 Berlin

Germany

Office tel: 4930 22 42 31 29 Fax: 49 30 22 42 32 60

E-mail: Wolfgang.Lasars@bmf.bund.de

Prof. John Evans Atta Mills 24 Regina Crescent (DTD)

Golden Gate

Regimanuel Gray Estates

East Airport, Accra

Ghana

Office tel: 233 21 76 02 26 Home tel: 233 21 701 21 30 Fax: 233 21 50 78 34

E-mail: fiifimills@yahoo.co.uk

Mr. Panna Lal Singh

Chairman

Central Board of Direct Taxes North Block, Central Secretariat

New Delhi 110001

India

Telephone: 91 11 2309 2648

Fax: 91 11 23092544

E-mail: plsingh@finance.nic.in

Mr. Surjotamtomo Soedirdjo Director of Tax Regulations

Ministry of Finance

Jalan Jend

Gatot Subroto No. 40-42, Lantai 7

Jakarta 12190

Indonesia

Office tel: 62 21 573 20 64 Home tel: 62 274 58 13 06

Fax: 62 21 573 20 64 or 525 16 58 E-mail: adjamhari@pajak.go.id

Mr. Mayer Gabay

Lawyer

Ministry of Finance

c/o Abraham Neeman Law Offices 8 Shaul Hamelech Boulevard Amot Mishpat Building, 11th floor Tel Aviv 64730

Israel

Office tel: 972 3 607 8400 Home tel: 972 2 566 97 61 Fax: 972 3 607 8401

E-mail: office@neemanab.co.il

Mr. Errol Hudson Commissioner

Taxpayer Appeals Department The Office Centre Building 12 Ocean Boulevard

1st floor — Annex

Kingston Jamaica

Office tel: 876 922 1767 Home tel: 876 988 0754 Fax: 876 948 9371

E-mail: appeals@fsl.org.jm

Mr. Armando Lara Yaffar

Deputy General Director for Treaty Negotiations and Special Projects

Ministry of Finance and Public Credit Avenida Hidalgo 77, Edificio 4, piso 3

Mexico City, D.F.

Mexico

Office tel: 52 55 91 57 27 13 or 91 57 40 09

Home tel: 52 55 56 81 86 72 Fax: 52 55 91 57 40 81

E-mail: armando.lara@sat.gob.mx

Mr. Noureddine Bensouda

Director General of Tax Administration Ministry of Finance and Privatization

Rue Haj Ahmed Cherkawi Quatier administratif

Agdal, Rabat Morocco

Office tel: 212 37 77 33 45 or 77 33 52

Home tel: 212 37 67 01 20 Fax: 212 37 77 55 76

E-mail: nrd.bensouda@wanadoo.net.ma, Sec.directeur@impots.finances.gov.ma

Mr. Joseph A. Arogundade

Director

Petroleum and International Tax Department

Federal Inland Revenue Service

UBA House, 7th floor

57 Marina Lagos Nigeria

Office tel/Fax: 234 1 264 40 34 Home tel: 234 91 413 88 30 E-mail: ajirogun@yahoo.com

Mr. Riaz Ahmad Malik

Secretary, Revenue Division and Chairman, Central Board of Revenue

Revenue Division CBR House

Constitution Avenue

Islamabad

Pakistan

Office tel: 92 51 920 19 38 Home tel: 92 51 920 53 08 Residence: 92 51 2262267 Fax: 92 51 9205308

E-mail: chairman@cbr.gov.pk

Mr. Babou Ngom

Chef de Centre des Services Fiscaux

Direction Générale des Impôts et des Domaines

Rue Vincens, angle Rue de Thiong

B.P. 1561 Dakar Senegal

Office tel: 221 869 09 39 Home tel: 221 820 31 67 Fax: 221 824 32 28

E-mail: baboungom@yahoo.fr

Mr. Keith Engel

Director

Legislative Oversight and Policy Coordination

National Treasury 40 Church Square Private Bag XIIS

Pretoria

South Africa 0001

Office tel: 27 12 315 5508 Home tel: 27 12 993 1283 Fax: 27 12 315 5516

E-mail: keith.engel@treasury.gov.za

Mr. José Antonio Bustos

Deputy Director General of International Fiscal Affairs

Ministerio de Hacienda

Alcalá 9 28071 Madrid

Spain

Office tel: 34 91 595 8085 Home tel: 34 91 853 4576 Fax: 34 91 595 8630

E-mail: joseantonio.bustos@minhac.es

Mr. Daniel Luthi Consultant Chläbiweg 11 CH-3068 Utzigen Switzerland

Tel.: 41 31 839 25 56 Fax: 41 31 839 85 71

E-mail daniel.luethi7@bluewin.ch

Mr. Andrew J. Dawson

Head of Tax Treaty Negotiation and Policy

Inland Revenue, International

Victory House 30-34 Kingsway London WC2B 6ES

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Tel: 44 20 74 38 64 97 Fax: 44 20 74 38 75 11

E-mail: andrew.dawson@ir.gsi.gov.uk

Ms. Patricia A. Brown

Deputy International Tax Counsel

Treaty Affairs

United States Treasury Department 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.

Room 5064-C

Washington, D.C. 20220 United States of America Office tel: 1 202 622 1781 Home tel: 1 301 891 1424 Fax: 1 202 622 1772

E-mail: Patricia.A.Brown@do.treas.gov

B. Observers

Mr. Idris Isayev Balakishi

Deputy Head

Tax Policy and Revenues Department

Ministry of Finance

Samed Vurgun Street, 83

370022 Baku Azerbaijan

Office tel: 994 12 93 05 46 Home tel: 994 12 41 64 73

Fax: 994 12 93 29 43

E-mail: idrisi@knowhow.baku.az

Mrs. Rowena Bethel

Legal Adviser

Ministry of Finance

Sir Cecil Wallace-Whitfield Centre

Cable Beach

P.O. Box N 3017

Nassau

Bahamas

Office tel: 242 327 1530 Home tel: 242 327 75 55

Fax: 242 327 1618

E-mail: mfinance@batelnet.bs or mofgeneral@bahamas.gov.bs

Ms. Simone Rudder

Deputy Permanent Representative Permanent Mission of Barbados 18a, Chemin François-Lehman 1218 Grand-Saconnex — Geneva

Switzerland

Office tel: 41 22 791 8500 Home tel: 41 79 337 6808 Fax: 41 22 791 8509

E-mail: srudder@foreign.gov.bb

Ms. Natalie Burke First Secretary

Permanent Mission of Barbados 18a, Chemin François-Lehman 1218 Grand-Saconnex — Geneva

Switzerland

Office tel: 41 22 791 8500 Home tel: 41 79 431 5848 Fax: 41-22 791-8509

E-mail: nburke@foreign.gov.bb

Ms. Claudine Devillet

Premier Attaché des Finances

Ministère des Finances

Administration Belge des Affaires Fiscales

Tour Finances (21ème étage)

Boulevard du Jardin Botanique, boîte 52

1010 Brussels

Belgium

Tel: 32 2 210 2404 Fax: 32 2 210 3307

E-mail: claudine.devillet@minfin.fed.be

Mr. Alfred Bagueka Assobo

Chef de la Division de la Législation,

du Contentieux et des Relations Fiscales Internationales

Ministère des Finances et du Budget

Direction des Impôts

Cellule des Relations Fiscales Internationales

Yaoundé Cameroon

Office tel: 237 222 42 29 Home tel: 237 991 36 15

Fax: 237 222 42 29

E-mail: abague kaassobo@yahoo.fr

Mr. Roger Athanase Meyong Abath

Chargé d'Etudes

Cellule des Relations Internationales

Direction des Impôts

Yaoundé Cameroon

Office tel: 237 222 18 14 or 223 43 15

Home tel: 237 778 88 78

Fax: 237 222 18 14 or 222 23 15 E-mail: meyongara@yahoo.fr

Dr. Christopher Rose

Executive Director

Secretariat of the Portfolio of Finance and Economic Development

Government Administration Building

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Office tel: 345 244 2242 Fax: 345 946 1343

E-mail: Christopher.rose@gov.ky

Mrs. Liselott Kana

Head of the International Legislation

Inland Revenue Service

Ministry of Finance

Teatinos 120, Piso 50, Of.500

Santiago Chile

Office tel: 56 2 395 1512 Home tel: 56 2 214 2191 Fax: 56 2 395 1027 E-mail: lkana@sii.cl

Mr. François Bossolo

Directeur de la Prévision et de l'Informatique

Direction Générale des Impôts

Boîte postale 180 Brazzaville

Congo

Office tel: 242 66 51 46 Home tel: 242 82 06 18 Fax: 242 81 03 15

E-mail: bossolo34@cg.celtelplus.com or bossolo34@yahoo.fr

Mr. Jorge Gutiérrez

Vice-Minister of Finance and Prices

Ministry of Finance Obispo No. 211 Habana Vieja

Ciudad de la Habana

Cuba

Office tel: 537 867 1926 Home tel: 537 41 6334 Fax: 537 33 8050

E-mail: vjorge@mfp.gov.cu

Mr. Robert Szurman Director-General

Central Financial and Tax Directorate

Ministry of Finance Letenska 15 Office Lazarska 7 118 10 Prague 1

Czech Republic

Office tel: 42 2 57 04 44 64 Fax: 42 2 47 04 42 14

E-mail: robert.szurman@mfcr.cz

Mr. Bronislav Mikel Deputy Director-General

Director of Department of International Tax Affairs

Central Financial and Tax Directorate

Ministry of Finance

Letenska 15 118 10 Prague 1 Czech Republic Tel: 42 2 5704 4008

Fax: 42 2 4704 4214

E-mail: bronislav.mikel@mfcr.cz

Mr. Hosni Ibrahim Gad Income Tax Commissioner

Ministry of Finance

5 Housein Hegazy Street, Elkasr El Aini

Cairo Egypt

Office tel: 202 795 2090 Fax: 202 794 47 19 or 196 12 51 E-mail: hosni-gad@hotmail.com

Mrs. Ghada Abdel Salam El Sherbini

Translator

Sales Tax Department and Model Customs and Tax Centre

Ministry of Finance 26 Obour building

Nasr City Cairo Egypt

Office tel: 202 403 4896 Home tel: 202 358 4156 Fax: 202 790 0052

E-mail: ghadaelsherbini@hotmail.com

Mr. Seyed Mahmoud Hamidi

Head of Supreme Council of Taxation

State Tax Organization

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Finance Poonak Bakhtari Avenue, Shahrak Ghods

P. O. Box 11365/4618

Tehran

Iran (Islamic Republic of) Office tel: 98 21 857 37 77 Fax: 98 21 857 37 78

E-mail: smhamidi@hotmail.com

Ms. Zarifeh Habibi Ghahremannezhad

Deputy General Director of Tax Treaties Bureau

State Tax Organization

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Finance

Poonak Bakhtari Avenue, Shahrak Ghods

P. O. Box 11365/4618

Tehran

Iran (Islamic Republic of) Office tel: 98 21 857 3704/5

Fax: 98 21 836 90 39

E-mail: IDTTD@Tavana.net

Mr. Mehrdad Mosayebi

Senior Expert for Taxes

Ministry of Economic Affairs and Finance Poonak Bakhtari Avenue, Shahrak Ghods

P. O. Box 11365/4618

Tehran

Iran (Islamic Republic of) Office tel: 98 21 836 9039 Home tel: 98 21 235 3807 Fax: 98 21 236 0258

E-mail: mehrdadmo@hotmail.com

Mr. Frank Mullen Assistant Secretary Revenue Ireland

International Direct Taxes

Dublin Castle Dublin 2

Ireland

Office tel: 353 1 679 2777 Home tel: 353 1 456 6301 Fax: 353 1 679 3314

E-mail: fmullen@revenue.ie

Ms. Talya Dolan-Gadiesh

Chief Legal Adviser

State Revenue Administration

Ministry of Finance

1 Kaplan Street

Jerusalem

Israel

Office tel: 972 2 531 7228 Home tel: 972 2 642 0563 Fax: 972 2 531 7553 E-mail: talya@mof.gov.il

Mrs. Assunta Luisa Perrotti

Official

International Relations Unit Tax Policy Department

Ministry of Economy and Finance

Viale dell'Aeronautica, 122

00144 Rome

Italy

Tel: 39 6 54 394 294 Fax: 39 6 59 10 909

E-mail: assuntaluisa.perrotti@finanze.it

Mr. Jack N. Ranguma

Commissioner of Income Tax

Income Tax Department

Kenya Revenue Authority

Times Tower, 19th floor

Haile Sellassie Avenue

P. O. Box 30742

Nairobi

Kenya

Office tel: 254 20 31 09 00

Home tel. 254 20 63 12 76 (till March 2004)

Cell: 254 722 23 61 93 Fax: 254 20 240927

E-mail: jack.ranguma@kra.go.ke

Ms. Hasmah Bt. Abdullah

Deputy Director General

Inland Revenue Board Malaysia

Block 9, 15th floor

Government Building Complex

Jalan Duta

50758 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia

Office tel: 603 62 01 85 48 Home tel: 603 77 22 26 79

Fax: 603 62 01 33 72

E-mail: hasmah@hasilnet.org.my

Madam Siti Halimah Ismail

Under Secretary

Tax Analysis Division

Ministry of Finance

Federal Treasury

Precinct 2,

62592 Putrajaya

Malaysia

Office tel: 603 88 82 33 44 Home tel: 603 80 75 57 45

Fax: 603 88 82 38 84

E-mail: sitih@treasury.gov.my

Mr. Abu Tariq Jamaluddin

Senior Revenue Counsel

Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia

Block 9, 9th floor

Government Building Complex

Jalan Duta

50758 Kuala Lumpur

Malaysia

Office tel: 603 62 01 21 98 Home tel: 603 56 37 40 24 Fax: 603 62 01 32 02

E-mail: abutariq@hasilnet.org.my

Madam Mahfuzah Baharin

Assistant Secretary
Tax Analysis Division
Ministry of Finance
Level 7, Precinct 2
62592 Putrajaya

Malaysia

Office tel: 603 88 82 33 81 Home tel: 603 33 43 07 09 Fax: 603 88 82 38 84

E-mail: mfuza@treasury.gov.my

M. Mustapha Kharbouch

Chief of Service

International Tax Treaties

Tax Administration

Ministry of Finance and Privatization Avenue Ahmed Cherkaoui, Agdal

Rabat Morocco

Office tel: 212 37 77 5396 Home tel: 212 61 30 5697 Fax: 212 37 77 4482

E-mail: m.kharbouch@impots.finances.gov.ma

M. Ahmed El Azzouzi

Chief of Regional Auditing Service

Tax Administration

Ministry of Finance and Privatization Avenue Ahmed Cherkaoui, Agdal Rabat,

Morocco

Office tel: 212 23 40 30 95 Home tel: 212 61 46 15 00 Fax: 212 37 77 44 82

Mr. Roger Arteaga

Director-General

Dirección General de Ingresos

Costado Norte Catedral de Managua

Managua Nicaragua Office tel: 505 278 8782 Home tel: 505 270 2931 Fax: 505 278 6938

E-mail: rarteaga@dgi.gob.ni Mr. Simon Christopher Yau Chief Inspector of Taxes Federal Inland Revenue Service International Tax Division

UBA House (7th floor)

57 Marina Lagos Nigeria

Office tel: 234 1 774 4233 Home tel: 234 1 774 4341 Fax: 234 1 264 4034

E-mail: simoncyau@yahoo.com

Mr. Andrew M. Vawe

Assistant Chief Inspector of Taxes

International Tax Division

Federal Inland Revenue Service

Petroleum and International Tax Department

UBA House (7th floor)

57 Marina Lagos Nigeria

Norway

Office tel: 234-1 774-4233 Home tel: 234-1 264-4034 Fax: 234-1 264-4034

E-mail: andrewvawe@yahoo.co.uk

Mr. Odd Hengsle Director General Ministry of Finances P. O. Box 8008 Dep N-0030 Oslo

Office tel: 47 22 24 44 70 Home tel: 47 909 47 252 Fax: 47 22 24 95 11

E-mail: odd.hengsle@finans.dep.no

Mrs. Oana Ciurea

Chief, Service for Negotiation and

Application of Tax Treaties Ministry of Public Finance

17 Apolodor Street

5th District

050741 Bucharest

Romania

Office tel: 40 1 312 5979

Home tel: 40 1 230 9544 Fax: 40 1 312 5979

E-mail: oana.ciurea@mail.mfinante.gv.ro

Mr. Pavel Osipov Head of Division Ministry of Taxation Dm. Ulyanov Str. 3, 121

Moscow

Russian Federation Tel: 70 95 913 0649 Fax: 70 95 913 05 26

E-mail: mns12603@fm3.nalog.ru

Mr. Manasseh Twahirwa Deputy Commissioner General Rwanda Revenue Authority

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning

B.P. 3987 Kigali Rwanda

Office tel: 250 57 49 20 Home tel: 250 8 48 40 Fax: 250 57 84 88

E-mail: rradcg@rwanda1.com

Mr. Olivier Rwamasirabo

Head of Tax Policy

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning

B.P. 158 Kigali Rwanda

Office tel: 250 57 67 01 Home tel: 250 57 56 57 Fax: 250 57 75 81

E-mail: olivier.rwamasirabo@minecofin.gov.rw

Ms. Puay Kim Jamie Ang Ministry of Finance 100 High Street #10-01 The Treasury Singapore 809689

Singapore

Tel: 65 63 32 71 88 Fax: 65 63 37 41 34

E-mail: Jamie_ANG@mof.gov.sg

Mr. Vasil Panko

Deputy Director General

Tax Directorate Nova Street No. 13 97504 Banská Bystrica

Slovakia

Tel: 421 48 439 31 14 Fax: 421 48 413 49 89 E-mail: panko@drsr.sk

Ms. Jana Petrova

Head of Foreign Relations

Tax Directorate Nová Street No. 13 97504 Banská Bystrica Slovakia

Tel: 421 48 439 3114 Fax: 421 413 4989 E-mail: petrova@drsr.sk

Mr. Ronald Van Der Merwe

P. O. Box 402 Pretoria, 0001 South Africa

Office tel: 27 12 422 51 44 Home tel: 27 12 997 15 77 Fax: 27 12 422 51 92

E-mail: rvdmerwe@sars.gov.za

Prof. Lynette Olivier Rand Afrikaans University South African Revenue Service Monitoring Office

P. O. Box 11616 Pretoria 0028

South Africa

Office tel: 27 12 431 9109 Home tel: 17 11 888 3346 Fax: 27 11 888 31 17

E-mail: lolivier1@sars.gov.za

Ms. Maria José Garde

International Tax Coordinator

Ministry of Finance

Calle Alcala No. 5, 1a Planta

28014 Madrid

Spain

Office tel: 34 91 595 8627 Home tel: 34 91 315 5296 Fax: 34 91 595 8454

E-mail: mjose.garde@tributos.minhac.es

Mr. Satit Rungkasiri

Director of Tax Policy Bureau

Revenue Department 90 Phaholyothin 7 Road Samsennai, Phayathai Bangkok 10400

Thailand

Office tel: 66 2 617 3631 Home tel: 66 2 375 6267 Fax: 66 2 617 3635

E-mail: satit.ru@pasi.rd.go.th

Mrs. Patricia Mongkhonvanit

Tax Economist

Revenue Department of Thailand

90 Phaholyothin 7 Road Samsennai, Phayathai Bangkok 10400

Thailand

Office tel: 62 2 272 8264 Home tel: 62 2 689 2229 Fax: 62 2 617 3632

E-mail: patcampos@yahoo.com

Mr. Khalil Laabidi Head of Office Ministry of Finance Rue Ibn Jazar

Tunis Tunisia

Office tel: 216 71 79 05 49 Home tel: 216 71 79 05 50 Fax: 216 71 46 37 15

Mr. Moses Kaggwa Assistant Commissioner Tax Policy Department

Ministry of Finance, Planning and Economic Development

P. O. Box 8147 Kampala Uganda

Office tel: 256 41 234 48 24 Home tel: 256 41 23 01 63 Fax: 256 77 59 53 62

E-mail: kaggwams@yahoo.co.uk

Mr. Serhiy Manokha Deputy Minister of Finance Ministry of Finance of Ukraine 12/2 Grushevskogo Street

Kiev 8

Ukraine 01008 Tel: 380 44 201 5605 Fax: 380 44 229 1803

E-mail: manokha@minfin.gov.ua

Mr. Petro Andrieiev

Director of the Tax Policy Department Ministry of Finance of Ukraine 12/2 Grushevskogo Street Kiev 8

Ukraine 01008

Office tel: 380 44 253 3192 Fax: 380 44 253 6674

E-mail: andreev@minfin.gov.ua

Mr. Volodymyr Pikhotskyi

Director of Methodology Department

State Tax Administration 6 Lvivska Square

Kiev 53

Ukraine 04655

Office tel: 380 44 247 33 98 Fax: 380 44 212 21 33

Mr. Juangustavo Ovalles Quesada Planning and Budget Director

Ministry of Finance Avenida Urdaneta Esq. de Carmelitas Edificio Ramia, piso 4

Caracas

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela Office tel: 58 212 802 1423

Home tel: 58 212 284 3105 Fax: 58 212 802 1422

E-mail: jovalles@mf.gov.ve and jovalles@seniat.gov.ve

Mr. Dang Ngoc Minh

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Viet Nam to the United Nations

30 Chemin des Corbillettes 1218 Grand Saconnex

Geneva Switzerland

Office tel: 41 22 798 2485 Home tel: 41 22 798 6739 Fax: 41 22 798 0724

E-mail: minhdn99@yahoo.com

C. Observers for international bodies and other institutions

Ms. Bernadette Brenda Vomwo Kanu

Senior Programme Officer Economic Affairs Division

Commonwealth Secretariat

Marlborough House

Pall Mall

London SW1Y 5HX

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Office tel: 44 207 747 6264

Home tel: 44 207 621 8458 Fax: 44 207 747 6235

E-mail: b.kanu@commonwealth.int

Mr. Jeffrey Owens

Head

Centre for Tax Policy and Administration

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

2 rue André Pascal 75775 Cedex 16

France

Office tel: 33 1 4524 9108 Fax: 33 1 4430 6312

E-mail: jeffrey.owens@oecd.org

Mr. Jacques Sasseville

Head

Tax Treaty Unit

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

2 rue André Pascal 75775 Cedex 16

France

Office tel: 33 1 4524 9107 Fax: 33 1 4430 6313

E-mail: jacques.sasseville@oecd.org

Mr. Frank L. Brunetti

Professor of Taxation and Law Fairleigh Dickinson University

1000 River Road

Teaneck, New Jersey 07666 United States of America Office tel: 1 201 692 7240 Home tel: 1 201 928 0202 Fax: 1 201 928 4223

E-mail: brunetti@fdu.edu

Mr. Stephen R. Crow

Professor of Taxation

International Association

of University Presidents (IAUP)

California State University/Sacramento

6000 J Street

Sacramento, California 95819-6088

United States of America Office tel: 1 916 278 7129 Home tel: 1 916 989 1528 Fax: 1 916 278 6489 E-mail: crow@csus.edu Mr. Jacques Malherbe

Professor of Law

Catholic University of Louvain

Stibbe

Rue Henri Wafelaerts 47-51

1060 Brussels Belgium

Office tel: 32 2 533 5358 Cell phone: 32 475 613238

Fax: 32 2 533 53 86

E-mail: jacques.malherbe@stibbe.be

Mr. David Davies Associate Head

Department of Law, Governance and

International Relations

London Metropolitan University

84 Moorgate

London EC2M 6SQ

England

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Office tel: 44 207 320 1518 Home tel: 44 208 878 2690 Fax: 44 207 320 1525

E-mail: d.davies@londonmet.ac.uk

Prof. Ghislain T. J. Joseph

Adviser

World Association of Former United Nations

Interns and Fellows (WAFUNIF)

United Nations — Room FF-646 304 East 45th Street, 6th floor New York, New York 10017 United States of America Office tel: 32 2 425 1149

Home tel: 32 2 426 8730 Fax: 32 2 426 5340 E-mail: gtjoseph@pi.be

Mr. Richard Murphy

Coordinator

Tax Justice Network 150 Beresford Road

Ely, Cambridgeshire CB6 3WD

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Office tel: 44 1353 645041 Fax: 44 1353 645042

E-mail: rjm@fulcrum-UK.com

Dr. Andreas Missbach

Tax Justice Network

Berne Declaration

P. O. Box 8031

Zurich

Switzerland

Office tel: 41 1 277 7007 Home tel: 41 1 277 7001 Fax: 41 1 291 5779

E-mail: amissbach@evb.ch

Mr. John Elliott Christensen

Coordinator

Tax Justice Network

38 Stanley Avenue

Chesham

Buckinghamshire

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland HP5 2JG

Office tel: 44 1494 793 922

E-mail: john.christensen@menas.co.uk

Prof. Dr. Luís Eduardo Schoueri

Vice-President

Associação Comercial de São Paulo

Rua Boa Vista, 51, 10° andar 01014-911 São Paulo — SP

Brazil

Office tel: 55 11 3897 0110 Fax: 55 11 3068 8379

E-mail: schoueri@lacazmartins.com.br

Mr. Ned Shelton Managing Partner

Sheltons — International Tax Counsel

Tuborg Boulevard 12, 4th floor

2900 Hellerup

Denmark

Office tel: 45 4546 1088 Home tel: 45 2448 6788 Fax: 45 4546 1089

E-mail: N.Shelton@Sheltons-tax.dk

Mrs. Shosh Shacham

Advocate — Tax Lawyer Shacham Tax Law Office

12 Netzach Israel Street

Tel Aviv 64361

Israel

Office tel: 972 3 696 3007 Home tel: 972 3 643 6635 Fax: 972 3 696 8613

E-mail: Shacham8@Zahav.net.il

Mr. Toshio Miyatake

Attorney-at-Law

Adachi, Henderson, Miyatake and Fujita

Inoue Akasaka Building, 5th floor

6-8, Akasaka, 1-chome

Minato-ku

Tokyo 107-0052

Japan

Office tel: 81 3 5562 0910 Home tel: 81 3 3867 6055 Fax: 81 3 5562 0916 E-mail: miyatake@ahmf.jp

Mr. Peter Baumgartner

Chairman

Commission on Taxation

International Chamber of Commerce — Paris

c/o Industrie-Holding SA

Luisenstrasse 39

P. O. Box 209

3000 Berne 6

Switzerland

Office tel: 41 31 356 6868 Home tel: 41 31 302 3979 Fax: 41 31 352 5532

E-mail: baumgartner@industrie-holding.ch

Mr. Christopher E. Steckel

Tax Lawyer/Partner

KPMG International

Badenerstrasse 172

CH-8004 Zurich

Switzerland

Office tel: 41 1 249 2270 Home tel: 41 1 260 4000

Fax: 41 1 249 2989

E-mail: christophersteckel@kmpg.com

D. United Nations Secretariat

Mr. Abdel Hamid Bouab

Chief, Special Projects Unit

Financing for Development Office

Department of Economic and Social Affairs

United Nations Secretariat

1 United Nations Plaza, Room DC1-1450

New York, NY 10017 United States of America Office tel: 212 963 8406 Home tel: 201 825 3390 Fax: 212 963 2812 E-mail: bouab@un.org

Mr. Alexander Trepelkov

Chief, Multi-stakeholder Engagement

and Outreach Unit

Financing for Development Office

Department of Economic and Social Affairs

United Nations Secretariat

2 United Nations Plaza, Room DC2-1758

New York, NY 10017 United States of America Office tel: 212 963 7633 Fax: 212 963 0043

E-mail: trepelkov@un.org

Mr. Masakatsu Ohyama Economic Affairs Officer Special Projects Unit

Financing for Development Office

Department of Economic and Social Affairs

United Nations Secretariat

2 United Nations Plaza, Room DC2-1766

New York, NY 10017 United States of America Office tel: 212 963 4695 Fax: 212 963 0522

E-mail: ohyama@un.org

Professor Michael J. McIntyre

Professor of Law

Wayne State University Law School

471 W. Palmer Avenue Detroit, Michigan 48202 United States of America Office tel: 313 577 3944 Home tel: 734 769 6947

Fax: 734 769 8989

E-mail: mcintyre@wayne.edu

Mr. Francisco Alfredo Garcia Prats Professor de Dret Financer i Tributari

Universitat de València

Facultat de Dret Financer i Tributari

Campus de Tarongers Edifici Occidentale 2B09

46022 Valencia

Spain

Office tel: 34 96 382 8582 ext. 124 Home tel: 34 96 6600 52271

Fax: 34 96 382 8583

E-mail: alfredo.garcia@uv.es

Mr. Jon E. Bischel Tax Attorney 3800 Atlantic Avenue, #1101 Virginia Beach, Virginia 23451-2758 United States of America Office tel: 757 422 6222

Fax: 757 422 6222

E-mail: jonbischel@aol.com

Mr. David E. Spencer Attorney Suite 4019 866 United Nations Plaza New York, NY 10017 United States of America Office tel: 212 751 3864

Fax: 212 758 8598

E-mail: spenlaw@msn.com

Annex II

Agenda and organization of work

- 1. Election of officers.
- 2. Adoption of the agenda and organization of work.
- 3. Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure.
- 4. Treaty shopping and treaty abuses.
- 5. Interaction of tax, trade and investment.
- 6. Financial taxation and equity market development.
- 7. Transfer pricing:
 - (a) Simplified safe harbour procedures;
 - (b) Intermediation and arbitration: European Union experience.
- 8. Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments.
- 9. Electronic commerce and developing countries.
- 10. Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation.
- 11. Revision and update of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries.
- 12. Revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries.

Annotations

3. Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure

The fact that jurisdiction to deal with both the substantive and procedural aspects of tax collection may involve different arrangements regarding the status of private parties vis-à-vis the faculties, powers, duties and privileges of the tax administration in each State, suggests the need for individual responses tailored to the structure and administration of the particular State in question. The eleventh meeting should address the issue of mutual assistance in tax collection, which is not dealt with in article 26 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention concerning exchange of information. The subject of a new international instrument for promoting international assistance in tax collection in the form of a multilateral convention on mutual administrative assistance in tax matters should be explored during the eleventh meeting.

Documentation

Mutual assistance in collection of tax debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.2)

4. Treaty shopping and treaty abuses

Treaty shopping exists when a resident person of a particular State takes steps or actions to establish a link for himself or his activities to another State with the intention of obtaining entitlement to benefits or relief under the law and treaties that the other country is party to. Tax authorities may challenge treaty shopping situations if an entity or transaction is deemed to lack sufficient economic substance. The eleventh meeting should explore guidelines that might include restrictions on the reliefs provided by a contracting State so that they should be given only:

- (a) To persons subject to tax in the other country, or
- (b) To persons subject to tax in the other country at a minimum statutory or effective rate, or
 - (c) To the beneficial owners of the income concerned, or
- (d) (In appropriate cases where the beneficiary is, in the first instance, a corporation), to companies the shares in which are quoted on a recognized stock exchange or to companies the major shareholding in which is not in the hands of persons resident in another country.

Arrangements for the exchange of information should, where appropriate, enable information to be provided that may be needed to operate such provisions.

Documentation

Abuse of tax treaties and treaty shopping (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.3)

5. Interaction of tax, trade and investment

Recent developments in the World Trade Organization, including the adoption of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights and the Subsidies Code in the Uruguay of multilateral trade negotiations, and the Foreign Corporation/Extraterritorial Income Exclusion litigation, have highlighted the interaction among tax, trade and investment rules. The World Trade Organization is no longer solely concerned with tariff reduction at the border, but engaged with issues related to foreign direct investment (for example, the General Agreement on Trade in Services) and to direct taxation (for example, the Subsidies Code as applied to direct tax export subsidies and the border adjustability rules). The meeting will discuss the theoretical relationship among tax, trade and investment rules, including the bilateral tax and investment treaties and the multilateral framework for addressing these issues.

Documentation

The interaction of tax, trade and investment (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.4)

6. Financial taxation and equity market development

The Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development addressed the need to sustain stable private financial flows to developing countries and economies in transition by encouraging the orderly development of capital markets through debt and equity markets that encourage and channel savings and foster productive investments. Derivative instruments play an important role in hedging investments in capital markets as well as providing transactional efficiency in financial markets. Owing to their rapid development, prevailing tax rules have not adjusted to the tax problems presented by derivatives. During the tenth meeting, there was no consensus on the question of appropriate jurisdiction, entailing the issue of whether to use the residence basis and that of the practicability of withholding taxes at source on payments under derivatives. Derivative transactions often exploit thin margins between prices available in different markets. The eleventh meeting should ensure that derivative transactions do not inappropriately avoid withholdings and other taxes.

Documentation

Financial taxation and equity market development: optimal financial market tax policies for developing countries (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.5)

7. Transfer pricing

(a) Simplified safe harbour procedures

During the tenth meeting, the Group of Experts recognized that the developing countries and economies in transition should improve their ability to develop and implement transfer pricing rules. The Focus Group appointed in regard to this has made recommendations specifically on policy advice, technical assistance and international cooperation on transfer pricing issues, and on avoiding and resolving transfer pricing disputes. The eleventh meeting should develop relevant systems and procedures to deal with transfer pricing. In this connection, the experience of the

European Union (EU) and a comparative analysis with Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) procedures will be of particular relevance.

(b) Intermediation and arbitration: European Union experience

The eleventh meeting should examine the feasibility of arbitration as a means of resolving international tax disputes. Most conventions provide for a mutual procedure as a means of resolving disputes concerning the application of the convention to taxpayers. It entails discussions between the competent authorities of the signatory States. The European model and a comparative analysis involving the OECD model should be of particular relevance. The recommendation should be based on the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development.

Documentation

Transfer pricing: simplified safe harbour procedures (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.7)

Intermediation and arbitration: the Arbitration Convention of the European Union for the resolution of transfer pricing disputes (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.8)

8. Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments

The tax treatment of cross-border interest income continues to be a major issue in international taxation and in international finance. Recent developments will result in more extensive taxation of cross-border interest income, and consequently less capital flight and tax evasion. With the growing attention to capital flight, the EU Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income and the OECD proposals will presumably lead to greater scrutiny by third countries of the even-handedness of the policies of EU and OECD. Both the EU Savings Directive and the OECD proposals in effect do not confront the issue of capital flight from third countries into EU and OECD countries. Given that EU and OECD have emphasized the importance of the taxation of capital flight, the reaction of third countries needs to be analysed.

Documentation

Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent developments (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.10)

9. Electronic commerce and developing countries

During the discussion in the tenth meeting, it was suggested that the United Nations might undertake research and new initiatives for determining the principles for taxation of electronic commerce and, specifically, concepts of permanent establishment, which may be useful to developing countries and economies in transition. The eleventh meeting should develop guidelines for legislation promoting direct and indirect tax requirements based on the strengthening of the tax base so as to avert preferential treatment of any specific use of electronic commerce, as well as on principles of transparency, certainty, effectiveness, efficiency and non-discrimination.

Documentation

Impact of electronic commerce on allocation of tax revenue between developed and developing countries (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.9)

10. Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation

During the preparatory phase of the International Conference on Financing for Development, the High-level Panel on Financing for Development headed by former Mexican President Ernesto Zedillo formulated recommendations aimed at the establishment of an institutional framework for an international organization or forum for international cooperation in tax matters. The Zedillo Panel specifically endorsed the creation of an international tax organization to cover such issues related to taxation as developing procedures for arbitration, sharing information on tax evasion, compiling statistics, and engaging in surveillance.

In the same context, in his report to the General Assembly at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the International Conference on Financing for Development (A/58/216), the Secretary-General recommended that the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters be upgraded to an intergovernmental commission or committee, reporting directly to the Economic and Social Council (para. 167 of the report of the Secretary-General).

Documentation

Institutional framework for international tax cooperation (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.6)

Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the International Conference on Financing for Development (A/58/216)

Do we need an international tax organization? (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6)

Report on a conference held at Pocantico on feasible additional sources of finance for development (ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6/Add.1)

11. Revision and update of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries

During its ninth and tenth meetings, the Group of Experts had agreed to proceed with periodic revisions and updates of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention every year. Furthermore, at its tenth meeting, the Group of Experts appointed two Focus Groups to make recommendations on transfer pricing and taxation of electronic commerce. The Group of Experts recognized the need for developing and transitional economy countries to improve their ability to develop, implement and administer transfer pricing and taxation on electronic commerce.

12. Revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries

During its ninth and tenth meetings, the Group of Experts agreed to proceed with periodic revisions and updates of the Manual every year.

Annex III

List of documents

ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.1	Provisional agenda and organization of work
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.2	Mutual assistance in collection of tax debts and protocol for mutual assistance procedure (by Professor Bruce Zagaris)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.3	Abuse of tax treaties and treaty shopping (by Professor Francisco Garcia Prats)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.4	The interaction of tax, trade and investment (by Professor Reuven Avi-Yonah)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.5	Financial taxation and equity market develop.m.ent: financial market tax policies for developing countries (by Mr. David Sugarman)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.6	Institutional framework for international tax cooperation (by Professor Michael McIntyre, Mr. Antonio Figueroa and others)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.8	Intermediation and arbitration: the Arbitration Convention of the European Union for the resolution of transfer pricing disputes (by Mr. Juan Lopez Rodriguez)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.9	Impact of electronic commerce on allocation of tax revenue between developed and developing countries (by Professor Chang Hee Lee)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.10	Tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flight: recent develop.m.ents (by Mr. David Spencer)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11	Report of proceedings 15 December 2003
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11/Add.1	Report of proceedings 16 December 2003
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11/Add.2	Report of proceedings 17 December 2003
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11/Add.3	Report of proceedings 17 and 18 December 2003
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11/Add.4	Report of proceedings 18 December 2003
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/L.11/Add.5	Report of proceedings 19 December 2003
E/2002/6	Tenth meeting of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters: report of the Secretary-General
A/58/216	Implementation of and follow-up to commitments and agreements made at the International Conference on Financing for Develop.m.ent: report of the Secretary-General

ST/ESA/PAD/SER.E/37	Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries (available in English only)
ST/ESA/PAD/SER.E/21	United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries (United Nations publication, Sales No. E.01.XVI.2)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/INF.1	List of documentation
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/INF.2	List of participants
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/INF.3	Programme of work
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.2	L'assistance internationale au recouvrement des créances fiscales (by Mr. Noureddine Bensouda)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.2/Add.1	Draft article 27, Assistance in the collection of taxes
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.4	Globalization, tax competition: implication for developing countries (by Professor Reuven Avi-Yonah)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.5	Economic, equity market, and trade implications of and interactions with taxation in a multinational setting (by Professor Stephen Crow)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6	Do we need an international tax organization? (by Frances M. Horner)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6/Add.1	Report on a conference held at Pocantico on feasible additional sources of finance for develop.m.ent
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6/Add.2	Report on the panel discussion on international cooperation in tax matters
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.6/Add.3	Institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation (by the Commonwealth Secretariat)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7	The unitary method and the less developed countries: preliminary thoughts (by Professor Oliver Oldman and Jennifer J. S. Brooks)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7/Add.1	The comparable profits methods and the arm's length principle (by Professor Hubert Hamaeckers)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.7/Add.2	Transfer pricing: experience of Pakistan (by Mr. Riaz Ahmad Malik)
ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.9	International taxation of electronic commerce (by Professor Reuven Avi-Yonah)

ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.9/Add.1 Electronic commerce and developing countries (by Professor Ghislain T. J. Joseph)

ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.11 Doble Tributación Internacional: inmovilismo o adecuación a la nueva realidad mundial (by Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa)

ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.11/Add.1 Proposal of update of the Commentaries on article 1 of the United Nations Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries (by Professor Francisco Alfredo Garcia Prats)

ST/SG/AC.8/2003/CRP.12 Commentary on the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries (by Professor Frank L.

Brunetti)

Annex IV

Work programme

Monday, 15 December 2003

9 a.m10 a.m.		Registration of participants
10 a.m10.30 a.m.		Opening of the meeting by Mr. Abdel Hamid Bouab
	Item 1.	Election of officers
	Item 2.	Adoption of the agenda and organization of work
10.30 a.m11.15 a.m.	Item 3.	Mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure (L.2, CRP.2)*
		- Presenter: Mr. Andrew Dawson
		- Discussant: Mr. Noureddine Bensouda
		Discussion open to experts
		Discussion open to observers
11.15 a.m11.30 a.m.		Coffee break
11.30 a.m12.30 p.m.	Item 3.	Consideration of item continued
12.30 p.m2.30 p.m.		Lunch break
2.30 p.m3 p.m.	Item 3.	Consideration of item continued
3 p.m4.15 p.m.	Item 4.	Treaty shopping and treaty abuses (L.3)*
		– Presenter: Professor Francisco Alfredo Garcia Prats
		- Discussant: Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa
		Discussion open to experts
		Discussion open to observers
4.15 p.m4.30 p.m.		Coffee break
4.30 p.m5.30 p.m.	Item 4.	Consideration of item continued

 $^{^{\}ast}$ "L" refers to working documents and "CRP" to conference room papers. Document symbols, which can be found at the top right corner of each document, begin with "ST/SG/AC.8/2003".

Tuesday, 16 December 2003

9.30 a.m.-10 a.m. Report of the Rapporteur

10 a.m.-11 a.m. Item 5. Interaction of tax, trade and investment (L.4,

CRP.4)*

- Presenter: Mr. Jon E. Bischel

- Discussant: Professor John Evans Atta Mills

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

11 a.m.-11.15 a.m. Coffee break

11.15 a.m.-12.30 p.m. Item 5. Consideration of item continued

12.30 p.m.-2.30 p.m. Lunch break

2.30 p.m.-4 p.m. Item 6. Financial taxation and equity market

development (L.5, CRP.5)*

- Presenter: Professor Stephen Crow

- Discussant: Mr. Armando L. Yaffar

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

4 p.m.-4.15 p.m. Coffee break

4.15 p.m.-5.30 p.m. Item 6. Consideration of item continued

Wednesday, 17 December 2003

9.30 a.m.-10 a.m. Report of the Rapporteur

10 a.m.-11 a.m. Item 7. Transfer pricing

(a) Simplified safe harbour procedures (CRP.7,

CRP.7/Add.1, CRP.7/Add.2)*

- Presenter: Mr. Riaz Ahmad Malik

- Discussant: Mrs. Liselott Kana

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

11 a.m.-11.15 a.m. Coffee break

^{* &}quot;L" refers to working documents and "CRP" to conference room papers. Document symbols, which can be found at the top right corner of each document, begin with "ST/SG/AC.8/2003".

11.15 a.m.-12.30 p.m. Item 7. Consideration of item continued

12.30 p.m.-2.30 p.m. Lunch break

2.30 p.m.-4 p.m. Item 10. Institutional framework for strengthening

international tax cooperation (L.6, CRP.6,

CRP.6/Add.1, CRP.6/Add.2)*

- Presenter: Professor Michael J. McIntyre

- Discussant: Mr. Abdoulaye Camara

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

4 p.m.-4.15 p.m. Coffee break

4.15 p.m.-5.30 p.m. Item 10. Consideration of item continued

Thursday, 18 December 2003

2.30 p.m.-4 p.m. Item 8. Tax treatment of cross border interest income

and capital flight: recent developments (L.10)*

- Presenter: Mr. David Spencer

- Discussant: Mr. José Antonio Bustos

Open discussion to experts

Open discussion to observers

4 p.m.-4.15 p.m. Coffee break

4.15 p.m.-5.30 p.m. Item 7. Transfer pricing

(b) Intermediation and Arbitration: European

Union experience (L.8)*

- Presenter: Mr. Pascal Saint-Amans

- Discussant: Mr. Errol Hudson

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

^{* &}quot;L" refers to working documents and "CRP" to conference room papers. Document symbols, which can be found at the top right corner of each document, begin with "ST/SG/AC.8/2003".

Friday, 19 December 2003

9.30 a.m.-10 a.m. Report of the Rapporteur

10 a.m.-11 a.m. Item 9. Electronic commerce and developing countries

(L.9, CRP.9, CRP.9/Add.1)*

- Presenter: Mr. Liao Tizhong

- Discussant: Mr. P. L. Singh

Discussion open to experts

Discussion open to observers

11 a.m.-11.15 a.m. Coffee break

11.15 a.m.-12.30 p.m. Item 9. Consideration of item continued

12.30 p.m.-2.30 p.m. Lunch break

2.30 p.m.-4 p.m. Items Revision and update of the United Nations

11 and Model Double Taxation Convention between
 12 Developed and Developing Countries and of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax

Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries

Jountines

Presenter: Mr. Antonio Hugo Figueroa (CRP.11, CRP.11/Add.1, CRP.12)*

Discussants: Professor Frank L. Brunetti,
 Professor Francisco Alfredo Garcia Prats

4 p.m.-5.30 p.m. Adoption of the report of the eleventh meeting

of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International

Cooperation in Tax Matters

Closure of the eleventh meeting

^{* &}quot;L" refers to working documents and "CRP" to conference room papers. Document symbols, which can be found at the top right corner of each document, begin with "ST/SG/AC.8/2003".

Annex V

Press release

Information Service

United Nations Office at Geneva

M/03/27 19 December 2003

Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters concludes eleventh meeting

The Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters held its eleventh meeting in Geneva from 15 to 19 December 2003. The meeting was attended by over 110 tax experts and administrators from several developed and developing countries, economies in transition and international financial and professional organizations.

During the meeting, the Ad Hoc Group of Experts considered the following agenda items: mutual assistance in collection of debts and protocol for the mutual assistance procedure; treaty shopping and treaty abuses; interaction of tax, trade and investment; financial taxation and equity market development; transfer pricing; simplified safe harbour procedures; intermediation and arbitration: European Union experience; tax treatment of cross-border interest income and capital flights; electronic commerce and developing countries; institutional framework for strengthening international tax cooperation; revision and update of the UN Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries; revision and update of the Manual for the Negotiation of Bilateral Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries.

The meeting reached consensus on several international taxation issues and formulated recommendations on each of the above-mentioned items. It also provided views on the establishment of a United Nations fiscal committee to be considered by the Economic and Social Council at its next substantive session.

The twelfth meeting of the Ad Hoc Group of Experts will take place in Geneva in 2005 preceded by the meeting of the Steering Committee and the Third Interregional Training Workshop on International Taxation to be held in 2004.

The Ad Hoc Group of Experts on International Cooperation in Tax Matters, which had been previously named the Ad Hoc Group of Experts on Tax Treaties between Developed and Developing Countries, was established in 1968 pursuant to Economic and Social Council resolution 1273 (XLIII) of 4 August 1967 and with a view to "exploring ... ways and means for facilitating the conclusion of tax treaties between developed and developing countries, including the formulation ... of

possible guidelines and techniques for use in such tax treaties that would be acceptable to both groups of countries and would fully safeguard their respective revenue interests".

04-33386 (E) 09805

* 0433386*